

 $\boldsymbol{2007}$



Formalized Mathematics

(a computer assisted approach)

Edited by Roman Matuszewski



University of Białystok ISSN 1426 - 2630

Contents

Alexandroff One Point Compactification By Czesław Byliński167
Arrow's Impossibility Theorem By Freek Wiedijk
Congruences and Quotient Algebras of BCI-algebras By Yuzhong Ding and Zhiyong Pang
Linear Congruence Relation and Complete Residue Systems By XIQUAN LIANG, LI YAN and JUNJIE ZHAO181
Several Integrability Formulas of Special Functions By Cuiving Peng, Fuguo Ge and Xiquan Liang 189
Basic Properties of the Rank of Matrices over a Field By KAROL PAK
Basic Operations on Preordered Coherent Spaces By KLAUS E. GRUE and ARTUR KORNIŁOWICZ213
Inferior Limit, Superior Limit and Convergence of Sequences of Extended Real Numbers By HIROSHI YAMAZAKI <i>et al.</i>
Several Classes of BCK-algebras and their Properties By TAO SUN, DAHAI HU and XIQUAN LIANG
Several Differentiation Formulas of Special Functions. Part VI By Bo LI and PAN WANG

Alexandroff One Point Compactification

Czesław Byliński University of Białystok Poland

Summary. In the article, I introduce the notions of the compactification of topological spaces and the Alexandroff one point compactification. Some properties of the locally compact spaces and one point compactification are proved.

MML identifier: COMPACT1, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The articles [15], [5], [16], [17], [4], [18], [1], [8], [14], [13], [19], [7], [9], [10], [6], [12], [2], [3], and [11] provide the notation and terminology for this paper.

Let X be a topological space and let P be a family of subsets of X. We say that P is compact if and only if:

(Def. 1) For every subset U of X such that $U \in P$ holds U is compact.

Let X be a topological space and let U be a subset of X. We say that U is relatively-compact if and only if:

(Def. 2) \overline{U} is compact.

Let X be a topological space. Note that \emptyset_X is relatively-compact.

Let X be a topological space. Observe that there exists a subset of X which is relatively-compact.

Let X be a topological space and let U be a relatively-compact subset of X. Observe that \overline{U} is compact.

Let X be a topological space and let U be a subset of X. We introduce U is pre-compact as a synonym of U is relatively-compact.

Let X be a non empty topological space. We introduce X is limitallycompact as a synonym of X is locally-compact.

Let X be a non empty topological space. Let us observe that X is liminallycompact if and only if:

(Def. 3) For every point x of X holds there exists a generalized basis of x which is compact.

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630 Let X be a non empty topological space. We say that X is locally-relativelycompact if and only if:

(Def. 4) For every point x of X holds there exists a neighbourhood of x which is relatively-compact.

Let X be a non empty topological space. We say that X is locally-closed/compact if and only if:

(Def. 5) For every point x of X holds there exists a neighbourhood of x which is closed and compact.

Let X be a non empty topological space. We say that X is locally-compact if and only if:

(Def. 6) For every point x of X holds there exists a neighbourhood of x which is compact.

Let us observe that every non empty topological space which is liminallycompact is also locally-compact.

Let us note that every non empty T_3 topological space which is locallycompact is also liminally-compact.

One can verify that every non empty topological space which is locally-relatively-compact is also locally-closed/compact.

Let us observe that every non empty topological space which is locallyclosed/compact is also locally-relatively-compact.

Let us observe that every non empty topological space which is locallyrelatively-compact is also locally-compact.

One can verify that every non empty Hausdorff topological space which is locally-compact is also locally-relatively-compact.

One can check that every non empty topological space which is compact is also locally-compact.

Let us observe that every non empty topological space which is discrete is also locally-compact.

Let us mention that there exists a topological space which is discrete and non empty.

Let X be a locally-compact non empty topological space and let C be a closed non empty subset of X. Note that $X \upharpoonright C$ is locally-compact.

Let X be a locally-compact non empty T_3 topological space and let P be an open non empty subset of X. Note that $X \upharpoonright P$ is locally-compact.

One can prove the following two propositions:

- (1) Let X be a Hausdorff non empty topological space and E be a non empty subset of X. If $X \upharpoonright E$ is dense and locally-compact, then $X \upharpoonright E$ is open.
- (2) For all topological spaces X, Y and for every subset A of X such that $\Omega_X \subseteq \Omega_Y$ holds $(incl(X, Y))^{\circ}A = A$.

Let X, Y be topological spaces and let f be a function from X into Y. We say that f is embedding if and only if:

(Def. 7) There exists a function h from X into $Y \upharpoonright \operatorname{rng} f$ such that h = f and h is a homeomorphism.

The following proposition is true

(3) Let X, Y be topological spaces. Suppose $\Omega_X \subseteq \Omega_Y$ and there exists a subset X_1 of Y such that $X_1 = \Omega_X$ and the topology of $Y \upharpoonright X_1 =$ the topology of X. Then incl(X, Y) is embedding.

Let X be a topological space, let Y be a topological space, and let h be a function from X into Y. We say that h is compactification if and only if:

(Def. 8) h is embedding and Y is compact and $h^{\circ}(\Omega_X)$ is dense.

Let X be a topological space and let Y be a topological space. Note that every function from X into Y which is compactification is also embedding.

Let X be a topological structure. The one-point compactification of X yields a strict topological structure and is defined by the conditions (Def. 9).

- (Def. 9)(i) The carrier of the one-point compactification of $X = \operatorname{succ}(\Omega_X)$, and
 - (ii) the topology of the one-point compactification of X = (the topology of X) $\cup \{U \cup \{\Omega_X\}; U \text{ ranges over subsets of } X: U \text{ is open } \wedge U^c \text{ is compact}\}.$
 - Let X be a topological structure. Note that the one-point compactification of X is non empty.

We now state the proposition

(4) For every topological structure X holds

 $\Omega_X \subseteq \Omega_{\text{the one-point compactification of } X}$.

Let X be a topological space. Note that the one-point compactification of X is topological space-like.

Next we state the proposition

(5) Every topological structure X is a subspace of the one-point compactification of X.

Let X be a topological space. One can verify that the one-point compactification of X is compact.

One can prove the following propositions:

- (6) Let X be a non empty topological space. Then X is Hausdorff and locally-compact if and only if the one-point compactification of X is Hausdorff.
- (7) Let X be a non empty topological space. Then X is non compact if and only if there exists a subset X' of the one-point compactification of X such that $X' = \Omega_X$ and X' is dense.
- (8) Let X be a non empty topological space. Suppose X is non compact. Then incl(X, the one-point compactification of X) is compactification.

CZESŁAW BYLIŃSKI

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. The ordinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):91–96, 1990.
- [2]Grzegorz Bancerek. The "way-below" relation. Formalized Mathematics, 6(1):169–176, 1997
- [3] Grzegorz Bancerek. Bases and refinements of topologies. Formalized Mathematics, 7(1):35-43, 1998.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):55-65, 1990.
- Czesław Byliński. Some basic properties of sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):47–53, [5] 1990.[6]
- Agata Darmochwał. Compact spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):383–386, 1990. [7]Agata Darmochwał. Families of subsets, subspaces and mappings in topological spaces.
- Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):257–261, 1990.
- Agata Darmochwał. Finite sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):165–167, 1990. [8]
- [9] Zbigniew Karno. Separated and weakly separated subspaces of topological spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 2(5):665–674, 1991.
- [10] Zbigniew Karno. On nowhere and everywhere dense subspaces of topological spaces. *Formalized Mathematics*, 4(1):137–146, 1993.
- [11] Artur Korniłowicz. Introduction to meet-continuous topological lattices. Formalized Mathematics, 7(2):279-283, 1998.
- [12] Beata Padlewska. Locally connected spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 2(1):93–96, 1991. [13] Beata Padlewska and Agata Darmochwał. Topological spaces and continuous functions.
- *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):223–230, 1990.
- [14] Andrzej Trybulec. Domains and their Cartesian products. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):115-122, 1990.
- [15] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
 [16] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [17] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73-83, 1990.
- [18] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.
- [19] Mirosław Wysocki and Agata Darmochwał. Subsets of topological spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):231–237, 1990.

Received August 13, 2007

Arrow's Impossibility Theorem

Freek Wiedijk Institute for Computing and Information Sciences Radboud University Nijmegen Toernooiveld 1, 6525 ED Nijmegen, The Netherlands

Summary. A formalization of the first proof from [6].

MML identifier: ARROW, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The terminology and notation used here are introduced in the following articles: [11], [13], [12], [10], [9], [5], [2], [3], [1], [8], [4], and [7].

1. Preliminaries

Let A, B' be non empty sets, let B be a non empty subset of B', let f be a function from A into B, and let x be an element of A. Then f(x) is an element of B.

Next we state two propositions:

- (1) For every finite set A such that card $A \ge 2$ and for every element a of A there exists an element b of A such that $b \ne a$.
- (2) Let A be a finite set. Suppose card $A \ge 3$. Let a, b be elements of A. Then there exists an element c of A such that $c \ne a$ and $c \ne b$.

2. LINEAR PREORDERS AND LINEAR ORDERS

In the sequel A denotes a non empty set and a, b, c denote elements of A. Let us consider A. The functor LinPreorders A is defined by the condition (Def. 1).

> C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

FREEK WIEDIJK

- (Def. 1) Let R be a set. Then $R \in \text{LinPreorders } A$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) R is a binary relation on A,
 - (ii) for all a, b holds $\langle a, b \rangle \in R$ or $\langle b, a \rangle \in R$, and

(iii) for all a, b, c such that $\langle a, b \rangle \in R$ and $\langle b, c \rangle \in R$ holds $\langle a, c \rangle \in R$. Let us consider A. Note that LinPreorders A is non empty.

Let us consider A. The functor LinOrders A yielding a subset of LinPreorders A is defined by:

(Def. 2) For every element R of LinPreorders A holds $R \in \text{LinOrders } A$ iff for all a, b such that $\langle a, b \rangle \in R$ and $\langle b, a \rangle \in R$ holds a = b.

Let A be a set. One can verify that there exists an order in A which is connected.

Let us consider A. Then LinOrders A can be characterized by the condition:

(Def. 3) For every set R holds $R \in \text{LinOrders } A$ iff R is a connected order in A. Let us consider A. One can verify that LinOrders A is non empty.

In the sequel o, o' are elements of LinPreorders A and o'' is an element of LinOrders A.

Let us consider A, o, a, b. The predicate $a \leq_o b$ is defined by:

(Def. 4) $\langle a, b \rangle \in o$.

Let us consider A, o, a, b. We introduce $b \ge_o a$ as a synonym of $a \le_o b$. We introduce $b <_o a$ as an antonym of $a \le_o b$. We introduce $a >_o b$ as an antonym of $a \le_o b$.

We now state a number of propositions:

- (3) $a \leq_o a$.
- (4) $a \leq_o b$ or $b \leq_o a$.
- (5) If $a \leq_o b$ or $a <_o b$ and if $b \leq_o c$ or $b <_o c$, then $a \leq_o c$.
- (6) If $a \leq_{o''} b$ and $b \leq_{o''} a$, then a = b.
- (7) If $a \neq b$ and $b \neq c$ and $a \neq c$, then there exists o such that $a <_o b$ and $b <_o c$.
- (8) There exists o such that for every a such that $a \neq b$ holds $b <_o a$.
- (9) There exists o such that for every a such that $a \neq b$ holds $a <_o b$.
- (10) If $a \neq b$ and $a \neq c$, then there exists o such that $a <_o b$ and $a <_o c$ and $b <_o c$ iff $b <_{o'} c$ and $c <_o b$ iff $c <_{o'} b$.
- (11) If $a \neq b$ and $a \neq c$, then there exists o such that $b <_o a$ and $c <_o a$ and $b <_o c$ iff $b <_{o'} c$ and $c <_o b$ iff $c <_{o'} b$.
- (12) Let o, o' be elements of LinOrders A. Then $a <_o b$ iff $a <_{o'} b$ and $b <_o a$ iff $b <_{o'} a$ if and only if $a <_o b$ iff $a <_{o'} b$.
- (13) Let o be an element of LinOrders A and o' be an element of LinPreorders A. Then for all a, b such that $a <_o b$ holds $a <_{o'} b$ if and only

if for all a, b holds $a <_o b$ iff $a <_{o'} b$.

3. Arrow's Theorem

For simplicity, we follow the rules: A, N are finite non empty sets, a, b are elements of A, i, n are elements of N, p, p' are elements of $(\text{LinPreorders } A)^N$, and f is a function from $(\text{LinPreorders } A)^N$ into LinPreorders A.

We now state the proposition

(14) Suppose that

- (i) for all p, a, b such that for every i holds $a <_{p(i)} b$ holds $a <_{f(p)} b$,
- (ii) for all p, p', a, b such that for every i holds $a <_{p(i)} b$ iff $a <_{p'(i)} b$ and $b <_{p(i)} a$ iff $b <_{p'(i)} a$ holds $a <_{f(p)} b$ iff $a <_{f(p')} b$, and
- (iii) $\operatorname{card} A \ge 3.$

Then there exists n such that for all p, a, b such that $a <_{p(n)} b$ holds $a <_{f(p)} b$.

In the sequel p, p' denote elements of $(\text{LinOrders } A)^N$ and f denotes a function from $(\text{LinOrders } A)^N$ into LinPreorders A.

One can prove the following proposition

- (15) Suppose that
 - (i) for all p, a, b such that for every i holds $a <_{p(i)} b$ holds $a <_{f(p)} b$,
 - (ii) for all p, p', a, b such that for every i holds $a <_{p(i)} b$ iff $a <_{p'(i)} b$ holds $a <_{f(p)} b$ iff $a <_{f(p')} b$, and
- (iii) card $A \ge 3$. Then there exists n such that for all p, a, b holds $a <_{p(n)} b$ iff $a <_{f(p)} b$.

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. Cardinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):377–382, 1990.
- [2] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):55– 65, 1990.
- [3] Czesław Byliński. Functions from a set to a set. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):153–164, 1990.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Some basic properties of sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):47–53, 1990.
- [5] Agata Darmochwał. Finite sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):165–167, 1990.
- [6] John Geanakoplos. Three brief proofs of arrow's impossibility theorem. Cowles Foundation Discussion Papers 1123R3, Cowles Foundation, Yale University, April 1996. Available at http://ideas.repec.org/p/cwl/cwldpp/1123r3.html.
- [7] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
- [8] Andrzej Trybulec. Function domains and Frænkel operator. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):495–500, 1990.
- [9] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [10] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [11] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.
- [12] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.

FREEK WIEDIJK

[13] Edmund Woronowicz and Anna Zalewska. Properties of binary relations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):85–89, 1990.

Received August 13, 2007

Congruences and Quotient Algebras of BCI-algebras

Yuzhong Ding Qingdao University of Science and Technology China Zhiyong Pang Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Summary. We have formalized the BCI-algebras closely following the book [7] pp.16-19 and pp.58-65. Firstly, the article focuses on the properties of the element and then the definition and properties of congruences and quotient algebras are given. Quotient algebras are the basic tools for exploring the structures of BCI-algebras.

MML identifier: BCIALG_2, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The articles [11], [5], [12], [10], [13], [2], [3], [1], [8], [14], [6], [15], [4], and [9] provide the terminology and notation for this paper.

1. BASIC PROPERTIES OF THE ELEMENT

For simplicity, we adopt the following convention: X is a BCI-algebra, I is an ideal of X, a, x, y, z, u are elements of X, f is a function from \mathbb{N} into the carrier of X, and j, i, k, n, m are elements of \mathbb{N} .

Let us consider X, x, y and let n be an element of N. The functor $(x \setminus y)^n$ yielding an element of X is defined by:

(Def. 1) There exists f such that $(x \setminus y)^n = f(n)$ and f(0) = x and for every element j of \mathbb{N} such that j < n holds $f(j+1) = f(j) \setminus y$.

One can prove the following propositions:

- $(1) \quad (x \setminus y)^0 = x.$
- (2) $(x \setminus y)^1 = x \setminus y.$
- (3) $(x \setminus y)^2 = x \setminus y \setminus y$.

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

- (4) $(x \setminus y)^{n+1} = ((x \setminus y)^n) \setminus y.$ (5) $(x \setminus 0_X)^{n+1} = x.$ $(6) \quad (0_X \setminus 0_X)^n = 0_X.$ (7) $((x \setminus y)^n) \setminus z = ((x \setminus z) \setminus y)^n$. (8) $(x \setminus (x \setminus (x \setminus y)))^n = (x \setminus y)^n$. $(9) \quad ((0_X \setminus x)^n)^c = (0_X \setminus x^c)^n.$ (10) $((x \setminus y)^n \setminus y)^m = (x \setminus y)^{n+m}.$ (11) $((x \setminus y)^n \setminus z)^m = ((x \setminus z)^m \setminus y)^n.$ (12) $(((0_X \setminus x)^n)^c)^c = (0_X \setminus x)^n.$ (13) $(0_X \setminus x)^{n+m} = ((0_X \setminus x)^n) \setminus ((0_X \setminus x)^m)^c.$ (14) $((0_X \setminus x)^{m+n})^{c} = ((0_X \setminus x)^m)^{c} \setminus ((0_X \setminus x)^n).$ (15) $((0_X \setminus ((0_X \setminus x)^m))^n)^c = (0_X \setminus x)^{m \cdot n}.$ (16) If $(0_X \setminus x)^m = 0_X$, then $(0_X \setminus x)^{m \cdot n} = 0_X$. (17) If $x \setminus y = x$, then $(x \setminus y)^n = x$. (18) $(0_X \setminus (x \setminus y))^n = ((0_X \setminus x)^n) \setminus ((0_X \setminus y)^n).$ (19) If $x \leq y$, then $(x \setminus z)^n \leq (y \setminus z)^n$. (20) If $x \leq y$, then $(z \setminus y)^n \leq (z \setminus x)^n$. (21) $((x \setminus z)^n) \setminus ((y \setminus z)^n) \le x \setminus y.$
- $(22) \quad ((x \setminus (x \setminus y))^n \setminus (y \setminus x))^n \le x.$

Let us consider X, a. We introduce a is minimal as a synonym of a is atom. Let us consider X, a. We say that a is positive if and only if:

(Def. 2) $0_X \leq a$.

We say that a is least if and only if:

(Def. 3) For every x holds $a \le x$.

We say that a is maximal if and only if:

(Def. 4) For every x such that $a \leq x$ holds x = a.

We say that a is greatest if and only if:

(Def. 5) For every x holds $x \leq a$.

Let us consider X. Observe that there exists an element of X which is positive.

Let us consider X. Note that 0_X is positive and minimal.

Next we state several propositions:

- (23) *a* is minimal iff for every *x* holds $a \setminus x = x^c \setminus a^c$.
- (24) x^{c} is minimal iff for every y such that $y \leq x$ holds $x^{c} = y^{c}$.
- (25) x^{c} is minimal iff for all y, z holds $((x \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus z))^{c})^{c} = y^{c} \setminus x^{c}$.
- (26) If 0_X is maximal, then every *a* is minimal.

(27) If there exists x which is greatest, then every a is positive.

- (28) $x \setminus (x^c)^c$ is a positive element of X.
- (29) a is minimal iff $(a^c)^c = a$.
- (30) a is minimal iff there exists x such that $a = x^{c}$.

Let us consider X, x. We say that x is nilpotent if and only if:

(Def. 6) There exists a non empty element k of N such that $(0_X \setminus x)^k = 0_X$. Let us consider X. We say that X is nilpotent if and only if:

(Def. 7) Every element of X is nilpotent.

Let us consider X, x. Let us assume that x is nilpotent. The functor $\operatorname{ord}(x)$ yielding a non empty element of N is defined by:

(Def. 8) $(0_X \setminus x)^{\operatorname{ord}(x)} = 0_X$ and for every element m of \mathbb{N} such that $(0_X \setminus x)^m = 0_X$ and $m \neq 0$ holds $\operatorname{ord}(x) \leq m$.

Let us consider X. One can verify that 0_X is nilpotent.

We now state four propositions:

- (31) x is a positive element of X iff x is nilpotent and $\operatorname{ord}(x) = 1$.
- (32) X is a BCK-algebra iff for every x holds $\operatorname{ord}(x) = 1$ and x is nilpotent.
- (33) $(0_X \setminus x^c)^n$ is minimal.
- (34) If x is nilpotent, then $\operatorname{ord}(x) = \operatorname{ord}(x^{c})$.

2. Congruences and Quotient Algebras

Let X be a BCI-algebra. An equivalence relation of X is said to be a congruence of X if:

(Def. 9) For all elements x, y, u, v of X such that $\langle x, y \rangle \in \text{it}$ and $\langle u, v \rangle \in \text{it}$ holds $\langle x \setminus u, y \setminus v \rangle \in \text{it}$.

Let X be a BCI-algebra. An equivalence relation of X is said to be an L-congruence of X if:

(Def. 10) For all elements x, y of X such that $\langle x, y \rangle \in \text{it}$ and for every element u of X holds $\langle u \setminus x, u \setminus y \rangle \in \text{it}$.

Let X be a BCI-algebra. An equivalence relation of X is said to be an R-congruence of X if:

(Def. 11) For all elements x, y of X such that $\langle x, y \rangle \in \text{it}$ and for every element u of X holds $\langle x \setminus u, y \setminus u \rangle \in \text{it}$.

Let X be a BCI-algebra and let A be an ideal of X. A binary relation on X is said to be an I-congruence of X by A if:

(Def. 12) For all elements x, y of X holds $\langle x, y \rangle \in$ it iff $x \setminus y \in A$ and $y \setminus x \in A$. Let X be a BCI-algebra and let A be an ideal of X. Note that every I-congruence of X by A is total, symmetric, and transitive.

Let X be a BCI-algebra. The functor IConSet X is defined as follows:

(Def. 13) For every set A_1 holds $A_1 \in \text{IConSet } X$ iff there exists an ideal I of X such that A_1 is an I-congruence of X by I.

Let X be a BCI-algebra. The functor $\operatorname{ConSet} X$ is defined as follows:

(Def. 14) ConSet $X = \{R : R \text{ ranges over congruences of } X\}.$

The functor $\operatorname{LConSet} X$ is defined by:

(Def. 15) LConSet $X = \{R : R \text{ ranges over L-congruences of } X\}.$

The functor $\operatorname{RConSet} X$ is defined as follows:

(Def. 16) RConSet $X = \{R : R \text{ ranges over } R\text{-congruences of } X\}$.

For simplicity, we adopt the following rules: R is an equivalence relation of X, R_1 is an I-congruence of X by I, E is a congruence of X, R_2 is an R-congruence of X, and L_1 is an L-congruence of X.

We now state three propositions:

- (35) For all X, E holds $[0_X]_E$ is a closed ideal of X.
- (36) R is a congruence of X iff R is an R-congruence of X and an L-congruence of X.
- (37) R_1 is a congruence of X.

Let X be a BCI-algebra and let I be an ideal of X. We see that the Icongruence of X by I is a congruence of X.

One can prove the following propositions:

- $(38) \quad [0_X]_{(R_1)} \subseteq I.$
- (39) *I* is closed iff $I = [0_X]_{(B_1)}$.
- (40) If $\langle x, y \rangle \in E$, then $x \setminus y \in [0_X]_E$ and $y \setminus x \in [0_X]_E$.
- (41) Let A, I be ideals of X, I_1 be an I-congruence of X by A, and I_2 be an I-congruence of X by I. If $[0_X]_{(I_1)} = [0_X]_{(I_2)}$, then $I_1 = I_2$.

(42) If $\langle x, y \rangle \in E$ and $u \in [0_X]_E$, then $\langle x, (y \setminus u)^k \rangle \in E$.

- (43) Suppose that for all X, x, y there exist i, j, m, n such that $((x \setminus (x \setminus y))^i \setminus (y \setminus x))^j = ((y \setminus (y \setminus x))^m \setminus (x \setminus y))^n$. Let given E, I. If $I = [0_X]_E$, then E is an I-congruence of X by I.
- (44) IConSet $X \subseteq \text{ConSet } X$.
- (45) ConSet $X \subseteq \text{LConSet } X$.
- (46) $\operatorname{ConSet} X \subseteq \operatorname{RConSet} X.$
- (47) ConSet $X = \text{LConSet } X \cap \text{RConSet } X$.
- (48) If every L_1 is an I-congruence of X by I, then $E = R_1$.
- (49) If every R_2 is an I-congruence of X by I, then $E = R_1$.
- (50) $[0_X]_{(L_1)}$ is a closed ideal of X.

In the sequel E denotes a congruence of X and R_1 denotes an I-congruence of X by I.

Let us consider X, E. Note that Classes E is non empty.

Let us consider X, E. The functor EqClaOp E yielding a binary operation on Classes E is defined by:

(Def. 17) For all elements W_1 , W_2 of Classes E and for all x, y such that $W_1 = [x]_E$ and $W_2 = [y]_E$ holds (EqClaOp E) $(W_1, W_2) = [x \setminus y]_E$.

Let us consider X, E. The functor zero EqC E yields an element of Classes E and is defined as follows:

(Def. 18) zeroEqC $E = [0_X]_E$.

Let us consider X, E. The functor X/E yielding a BCI structure with 0 is defined by:

(Def. 19) $X/_E = \langle \text{Classes } E, \text{EqClaOp } E, \text{zeroEqC } E \rangle.$

Let us consider X and let E be a congruence of X. One can check that X/E is non empty.

In the sequel W_1 , W_2 denote elements of Classes E.

Let us consider X, E, W_1, W_2 . The functor $W_1 \setminus W_2$ yielding an element of Classes E is defined by:

(Def. 20) $W_1 \setminus W_2 = (\text{EqClaOp } E)(W_1, W_2).$

Next we state the proposition

(51) $X/_{R_1}$ is a BCI-algebra.

Let us consider X, I, R_1 . Note that X/R_1 is strict, B, C, I, and BCI-4. Next we state the proposition

(52) For all X, I such that I = BCK-part X and for every I-congruence R_1 of X by I holds X/R_1 is a p-semisimple BCI-algebra.

References

- [1] Czesław Byliński. Binary operations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):175–180, 1990.
- [2] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):55–65, 1990.
- [3] Czesław Byliński. Functions from a set to a set. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):153–164, 1990.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- [5] Czesław Byliński. Some basic properties of sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):47–53, 1000
- [6] Yuzhong Ding. Several classes of BCI-algebras and their properties. Formalized Mathematics, 15(1):1–9, 2007.
- [7] Yisheng Huang. BCI-algebras. Science Press, 2006.
- [8] Library Committee of the Association of Mizar Users. Binary operations on numbers. *To appear in Formalized Mathematics*.
- Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Equivalence relations and classes of abstraction. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):441–444, 1990.
- [10] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
- [11] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [12] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [13] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.
- [14] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.

[15] Edmund Woronowicz and Anna Zalewska. Properties of binary relations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):85–89, 1990.

Received August 28, 2007

Linear Congruence Relation and Complete Residue Systems

Xiquan Liang Qingdao University of Science and Technology China Li Yan Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Junjie Zhao Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Summary. In this paper, we defined the congruence relation and proved its fundamental properties on the base of some useful theorems. Then we proved the existence of solution and the number of incongruent solution to a linear congruence and the linear congruent equation class, in particular, we proved the Chinese Remainder Theorem. Finally, we defined the complete residue system and proved its fundamental properties.

MML identifier: INT_4, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The papers [21], [25], [2], [20], [1], [22], [3], [24], [14], [17], [16], [23], [26], [7], [5], [27], [9], [18], [13], [19], [28], [8], [10], [4], [15], [11], [6], and [12] provide the terminology and notation for this paper.

For simplicity, we adopt the following convention: $a, b, m, x, y, i_1, i_2, i_3, i$ denote integers, k, p, q, n denote natural numbers, c, c_1, c_2 denote elements of \mathbb{N} , and X denotes a set.

Next we state the proposition

(1) For every real-membered set X and for every real number a holds $X \approx a \oplus X$.

Let X be a finite real-membered set and let a be a real number. One can verify that $a \oplus X$ is finite.

One can prove the following propositions:

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

- (2) For every finite real-membered set X and for every real number a holds $\operatorname{card} X = \operatorname{card}(a \oplus X)$.
- (3) For every real-membered set X and for every real number a such that $a \neq 0$ holds $X \approx a \circ X$.
- (4) Let X be a real-membered set and a be a real number. Then
- (i) if a = 0 and X is non empty, then $a \circ X = \{0\}$, and
- (ii) if $a \circ X = \{0\}$, then a = 0 or $X = \{0\}$.

Let X be a finite real-membered set and let a be a real number. One can verify that $a \circ X$ is finite.

The following propositions are true:

- (5) For every finite real-membered set X and for every real number a such that $a \neq 0$ holds card $X = \operatorname{card}(a \circ X)$.
- (6) If $i | i_1$ and $i_1 \neq 0$, then $|i| \leq |i_1|$.
- (7) For every i_3 such that $i_3 \neq 0$ holds $i_1 \mid i_2$ iff $i_1 \cdot i_3 \mid i_2 \cdot i_3$.
- (8) For all natural numbers a, b, m and for every element n of \mathbb{N} such that $a \mod m = b \mod m$ holds $a^n \mod m = b^n \mod m$.
- (9) If $i_1 \cdot i \equiv i_2 \cdot i \pmod{i_3}$ and i and i_3 are relative prime, then $i_1 \equiv i_2 \pmod{i_3}$.
- (10) If $i_1 \equiv i_2 \pmod{i_3}$, then $i_1 \cdot k \equiv i_2 \cdot k \pmod{i_3 \cdot k}$.
- (11) If $i_1 \equiv i_2 \pmod{i}$, then $i_1 \cdot i_3 \equiv i_2 \cdot i_3 \pmod{i}$.
- (12) For every integer i holds $0 = 0 \mod i$.
- (13) For every b such that b > 0 and for every a there exist integers q, r such that $a = b \cdot q + r$ and $r \ge 0$ and r < b.
- (14) If $i_1 \equiv i_2 \pmod{i_3}$, then $i_1 \gcd i_3 = i_2 \gcd i_3$.
- (15) If a and m are relative prime, then there exists an integer x such that $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0.$
- (16) If m > 0 and a and m are relative prime, then there exists a natural number n such that $(a \cdot n b) \mod m = 0$.
- (17) If $m \neq 0$ and $a \gcd m \nmid b$, then it is not true that there exists an integer x such that $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0$.
- (18) If $m \neq 0$ and $a \gcd m \mid b$, then there exists an integer x such that $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0$.

Let x be an integer. Observe that x^2 is natural. We now state several propositions:

- (19) If n > 0 and p > 0, then $p \cdot q \mod p^n = p \cdot (q \mod p^{n-1})$.
- (20) $p \cdot q \mod p \cdot n = p \cdot (q \mod n).$
- (21) If n > 0 and p is prime and p and q are relative prime, then $p \nmid q \mod p^n$.
- (22) For all natural numbers p, q, n such that n > 0 holds $(p q) \mod n = 0$ iff $p \mod n = q \mod n$.

- (23) For all natural numbers a, b, m such that m > 0 holds $a \mod m = b \mod m$ iff $m \mid a b$.
- (24) If n > 0 and p is prime and p and q are relative prime, then it is not true that there exists an integer x such that $(p \cdot x^2 q) \mod p^n = 0$.
- (25) If n > 0 and p is prime and p and q are relative prime, then it is not true that there exists an integer x such that $(p \cdot x q) \mod p^n = 0$.

Let *m* be an integer. The functor $\operatorname{Cong} m$ yielding a binary relation on \mathbb{Z} is defined as follows:

(Def. 1) $\langle x, y \rangle \in \operatorname{Cong} m$ iff $x \equiv y \pmod{m}$.

Let m be an integer. One can check that $\operatorname{Cong} m$ is total.

Let m be an integer. One can check that $\operatorname{Cong} m$ is reflexive, symmetric, and transitive.

Next we state four propositions:

- (26) Suppose $m \neq 0$ and $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0$. Let y be an integer. Then
- (i) if a and m are relative prime and $(a \cdot y b) \mod m = 0$, then $y \in [x]_{\operatorname{Cong} m}$, and
- (ii) if $y \in [x]_{\operatorname{Cong} m}$, then $(a \cdot y b) \mod m = 0$.
- (27) Let a, b, m, x be integers. Suppose $m \neq 0$ and a and m are relative prime and $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0$. Then there exists an integer s such that $\langle x, b \cdot s \rangle \in \operatorname{Cong} m$.
- (28) Let a, m be elements of \mathbb{N} . Suppose $a \neq 0$ and m > 1 and a and m are relative prime. Let b, x be integers. If $(a \cdot x b) \mod m = 0$, then $\langle x, b \cdot a^{\operatorname{Euler} m 1} \rangle \in \operatorname{Cong} m$.
- (29) Suppose $m \neq 0$ and $a \gcd m \mid b$. Then there exists a finite sequence f_1 of elements of \mathbb{Z} such that len $f_1 = a \gcd m$ and for every c such that $c \in \operatorname{dom} f_1$ holds $(a \cdot f_1(c) b) \mod m = 0$ and for all c_1, c_2 such that $c_1 \in \operatorname{dom} f_1$ and $c_2 \in \operatorname{dom} f_1$ and $c_1 \neq c_2$ holds $f_1(c_1) \not\equiv f_1(c_2) \pmod{m}$.

We use the following convention: f_1 , f_2 denote finite sequences of elements of \mathbb{N} and a, b, c, d, n denote elements of \mathbb{N} .

Next we state a number of propositions:

- (30) For all b, n such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $\text{len } f_1 = n + 1$ holds $(f_1 \cap \langle d \rangle)_{|b|} = ((f_1)_{|b|} \cap \langle d \rangle.$
- (31) Suppose len $f_1 \ge 2$ and for all b, c such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $c \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $b \ne c$ holds $gcd(f_1(b), f_1(c)) = 1$. Let given b. If $b \in \text{dom } f_1$, then $gcd(\prod((f_1)_{\restriction b}), f_1(b)) = 1$.
- (32) For every a such that $a \in \text{dom } f_1 \text{ holds } f_1(a) \mid \prod f_1$.
- (33) If $a \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $p \mid f_1(a)$, then $p \mid \prod f_1$.
- (34) If len $f_1 = n + 1$ and $a \ge 1$ and $a \le n$, then $(f_1)_{|a|}(n) = f_1(\text{len } f_1)$.

- (35) For all a, b such that $a \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $a \neq b$ and len $f_1 \ge 1$ holds $f_1(b) \mid \prod((f_1)_{\mid a})$.
- (36) If for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $a \mid f_1(b)$, then $a \mid \sum f_1$.
- (37) Suppose len $f_1 \ge 2$ and for all b, c such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $c \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $b \ne c$ holds $\text{gcd}(f_1(b), f_1(c)) = 1$ and for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $f_1(b) \ne 0$. Let given f_2 . Suppose len $f_2 = \text{len } f_1$. Then there exists an integer x such that for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $(x - f_2(b)) \mod f_1(b) = 0$.
- (38) If for all b, c such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $c \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $b \neq c$ holds $gcd(f_1(b), f_1(c)) = 1$ and for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $f_1(b) \mid a$, then $\prod f_1 \mid a$.
- (39) Suppose len $f_1 \ge 2$ and for all b, c such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $c \in \text{dom } f_1$ and $b \ne c$ holds $\text{gcd}(f_1(b), f_1(c)) = 1$ and for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $f_1(b) > 0$. Let given f_2 . Suppose len $f_2 = \text{len } f_1$ and for every b such that $b \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $(x-f_2(b)) \mod f_1(b) = 0$ and $(y-f_2(b)) \mod f_1(b) = 0$. Then $x \equiv y \pmod{\prod f_1}$.

We follow the rules: m_1 , m_2 , m_3 , r, s, a, b, c, c_1 , c_2 , x denote integers and n_1 , n_2 , n_3 denote natural numbers.

The following propositions are true:

- (40) Suppose $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_2 \neq 0$ and m_1 and m_2 are relative prime. Then there exists an integer r such that for every x such that $(x - c_1) \mod m_1 =$ 0 and $(x - c_2) \mod m_2 = 0$ holds $x \equiv c_1 + m_1 \cdot r \pmod{m_1 \cdot m_2}$ and $(m_1 \cdot r - (c_2 - c_1)) \mod m_2 = 0.$
- (41) If $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_2 \neq 0$ and $m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2 \nmid c_1 c_2$, then it is not true that there exists x such that $(x c_1) \mod m_1 = 0$ and $(x c_2) \mod m_2 = 0$.
- (42) Suppose $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_2 \neq 0$ and $m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2 \mid c_2 c_1$. Then there exists r such that for every x such that $(x-c_1) \mod m_1 = 0$ and $(x-c_2) \mod m_2 = 0$ holds $x \equiv c_1 + m_1 \cdot r (\operatorname{mod} \operatorname{lcm}(m_1, m_2))$ and $((m_1 \div (m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2)) \cdot r - ((c_2 - c_1) \div (m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2))) \mod (m_2 \div (m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2)) = 0.$
- (43) Suppose $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_2 \neq 0$ and $a \gcd m_1 \mid c_1$ and $b \gcd m_2 \mid c_2$ and m_1 and m_2 are relative prime. Then there exist integers w, r, s such that
 - (i) for every x such that $(a \cdot x c_1) \mod m_1 = 0$ and $(b \cdot x c_2) \mod m_2 = 0$ holds $x \equiv r + (m_1 \div (a \gcd m_1)) \cdot w (\mod (m_1 \div (a \gcd m_1)) \cdot (m_2 \div (b \gcd m_2))),$
 - (ii) $((a \div (a \gcd m_1)) \cdot r (c_1 \div (a \gcd m_1))) \mod (m_1 \div (a \gcd m_1)) = 0,$
- (iii) $((b \div (b \gcd m_2)) \cdot s (c_2 \div (b \gcd m_2))) \mod (m_2 \div (b \gcd m_2)) = 0$, and
- (iv) $((m_1 \div (a \gcd m_1)) \cdot w (s r)) \mod (m_2 \div (b \gcd m_2)) = 0.$
- (44) Suppose that
 - (i) $m_1 \neq 0$,
- (ii) $m_2 \neq 0$,
- (iii) $m_3 \neq 0$,

- (iv) m_1 and m_2 are relative prime,
- (v) m_1 and m_3 are relative prime, and
- (vi) m_2 and m_3 are relative prime.

Then there exist r, s such that for every x if $(x - a) \mod m_1 = 0$ and $(x - b) \mod m_2 = 0$ and $(x - c) \mod m_3 = 0$, then $x \equiv a + m_1 \cdot r + m_1 \cdot m_2 \cdot s \pmod{m_1 \cdot m_2 \cdot m_3}$ and $(m_1 \cdot r - (b - a)) \mod m_2 = 0$ and $(m_1 \cdot m_2 \cdot s - (c - a - m_1 \cdot r)) \mod m_3 = 0$.

- (45) Suppose $m_1 \neq 0$ and $m_2 \neq 0$ and $m_3 \neq 0$ and $m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_2 \nmid a b$ or $m_1 \operatorname{gcd} m_3 \nmid a c$ or $m_2 \operatorname{gcd} m_3 \nmid b c$. Then it is not true that there exists x such that $(x a) \mod m_1 = 0$ and $(x b) \mod m_2 = 0$ and $(x c) \mod m_3 = 0$.
- (46) For all non zero natural numbers n_1, n_2, n_3 holds lcm(gcd(n_1, n_3), gcd(n_2, n_3)) = gcd(lcm(n_1, n_2), n_3).
- (47) Let n_1, n_2, n_3 be non zero natural numbers. Suppose $gcd(n_1, n_2) | a b$ and $gcd(n_1, n_3) | a - c$ and $gcd(n_2, n_3) | b - c$. Then there exist r, s such that for every x if $(x-a) \mod n_1 = 0$ and $(x-b) \mod n_2 = 0$ and $(x-c) \mod n_3 =$ 0, then $x \equiv a + n_1 \cdot r + lcm(n_1, n_2) \cdot s(mod lcm(lcm(n_1, n_2), n_3))$ and $((n_1 \div gcd(n_1, n_2)) \cdot r - ((b - a) \div gcd(n_1, n_2))) \mod (n_2 \div gcd(n_1, n_2)) =$ 0 and $((lcm(n_1, n_2) \div gcd(lcm(n_1, n_2), n_3)) \cdot s - ((c - (a + n_1 \cdot r)) \div gcd(lcm(n_1, n_2), n_3))) \mod (n_3 \div gcd(lcm(n_1, n_2), n_3)) = 0.$

In the sequel f_1 denotes a finite sequence of elements of \mathbb{N} and a, b, m denote elements of \mathbb{N} .

Let m be an element of \mathbb{N} and let X be a set. We say that X is a complete residue system modulo m if and only if:

(Def. 2) There exists a finite sequence f_1 of elements of \mathbb{Z} such that $X = \operatorname{rng} f_1$ and $\operatorname{len} f_1 = m$ and for every b such that $b \in \operatorname{dom} f_1$ holds $f_1(b) \in [b - 1]_{\operatorname{Cong} m}$.

One can prove the following propositions:

- (48) $\{a : a < m\}$ is a complete residue system modulo m.
- (49) Let X be a finite set. Suppose X is a complete residue system modulo m. Then card X = m and for all integers x, y such that $x \in X$ and $y \in X$ and $x \neq y$ holds $\langle x, y \rangle \notin \operatorname{Cong} m$.
- (50) \emptyset is a complete residue system modulo m iff m = 0.
- (51) Let X be a finite set. Suppose card X = m. Then there exists a finite sequence f_1 such that len $f_1 = m$ and for every a such that $a \in \text{dom } f_1$ holds $f_1(a) \in X$ and f_1 is one-to-one.
- (52) Let X be a finite subset of \mathbb{Z} . Suppose card X = m and for all integers x, y such that $x \in X$ and $y \in X$ and $x \neq y$ holds $\langle x, y \rangle \notin \operatorname{Cong} m$. Then X is a complete residue system modulo m.

In the sequel a is an integer.

The following two propositions are true:

- (53) Let X be a finite subset of \mathbb{Z} . Suppose X is a complete residue system modulo m. Then $a \oplus X$ is a complete residue system modulo m.
- (54) Let X be a finite subset of \mathbb{Z} . Suppose a and m are relative prime and X is a complete residue system modulo m. Then $a \circ X$ is a complete residue system modulo m.

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. Arithmetic of non-negative rational numbers. *To appear in Formalized Mathematics*.
- [2] Grzegorz Bancerek. Cardinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):377–382, 1990.
- [3] Grzegorz Bancerek. The ordinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):91–96, 1990.
- [4] Grzegorz Bancerek. Joining of decorated trees. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):77-82, 1993.
 [5] Grzegorz Bancerek and Krawartef Huminimicali. Segments of natural numbers and finite.
- [5] Grzegorz Bancerek and Krzysztof Hryniewiecki. Segments of natural numbers and finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):107–114, 1990.
- [6] Józef Białas. Some properties of the intervals. Formalized Mathematics, 5(1):21–26, 1996.
- [7] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):55–65, 1990.
- [8] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- [9] Czesław Byliński. The sum and product of finite sequences of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):661–668, 1990.
- [10] Agata Darmochwał. Finite sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):165–167, 1990.
- [11] Noboru Endou, Katsumi Wasaki, and Yasunari Shidama. Definitions and basic properties of measurable functions. *Formalized Mathematics*, 9(3):495–500, 2001.
- [12] Noboru Endou, Katsumi Wasaki, and Yasunari Shidama. Scalar multiple of Riemann definite integral. Formalized Mathematics, 9(1):191–196, 2001.
- [13] Yoshinori Fujisawa and Yasushi Fuwa. The Euler's function. Formalized Mathematics, 6(4):549–551, 1997.
- [14] Krzysztof Hryniewiecki. Basic properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):35–40, 1990.
- [15] Andrzej Kondracki. The Chinese Remainder Theorem. Formalized Mathematics, 6(4):573–577, 1997.
- [16] Rafał Kwiatek. Factorial and Newton coefficients. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(5):887–890, 1990.
- [17] Rafał Kwiatek and Grzegorz Zwara. The divisibility of integers and integer relative primes. Formalized Mathematics, 1(5):829–832, 1990.
- [18] Takaya Nishiyama and Yasuho Mizuhara. Binary arithmetics. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):83–86, 1993.
- [19] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Equivalence relations and classes of abstraction. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):441–444, 1990.
- [20] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
- [21] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [22] Andrzej Trybulec. On the sets inhabited by numbers. *Formalized Mathematics*, 11(4):341–347, 2003.
- [23] Andrzej Trybulec and Czesław Byliński. Some properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):445–449, 1990.
- [24] Michał J. Trybulec. Integers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):501–505, 1990.
- [25] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [26] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.

- [27] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.
 [28] Edmund Woronowicz and Anna Zalewska. Properties of binary relations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):85–89, 1990.

Received August 28, 2007

Several Integrability Formulas of Special Functions

Cuiying Peng Qingdao University of Science and Technology China Fuguo Ge Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Xiquan Liang Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Summary. In this article, we give several integrability formulas of special and composite functions including trigonometric function, inverse trigonometric function, hyperbolic function and logarithmic function.

MML identifier: INTEGRA8, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The notation and terminology used here are introduced in the following papers: [21], [20], [7], [12], [6], [25], [3], [8], [26], [24], [5], [22], [18], [19], [17], [9], [16], [11], [14], [1], [15], [23], [13], [10], [2], and [4].

1. Preliminaries

For simplicity, we adopt the following convention: f, f_1, f_2, g denote partial functions from \mathbb{R} to \mathbb{R} , A denotes a closed-interval subset of \mathbb{R} , r, x, x_0 denote real numbers, n denotes an element of \mathbb{N} , and Z denotes an open subset of \mathbb{R} .

The following propositions are true:

- (1) $\sin(x+2\cdot n\cdot \pi) = \sin x.$
- (2) $\sin(x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi) = -\sin x.$
- (3) $\cos(x+2\cdot n\cdot \pi) = \cos x.$

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

- (4) $\cos(x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi) = -\cos x.$ (5) If $\sin(\frac{x}{2}) \ge 0$, then $\sin(\frac{x}{2}) = \sqrt{\frac{1-\cos x}{2}}$. (6) If $\sin(\frac{x}{2}) < 0$, then $\sin(\frac{x}{2}) = -\sqrt{\frac{1-\cos x}{2}}$. (7) $\sin(\frac{\pi}{4}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$. (8) $\sin(-\frac{\pi}{4}) = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$. (9) $\left[-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\right] \subseteq \left]-1, 1\right[.$ (10) $\arcsin(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}) = \frac{\pi}{4}.$ (11) $\arcsin(-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}) = -\frac{\pi}{4}$. (12) If $\cos(\frac{x}{2}) \ge 0$, then $\cos(\frac{x}{2}) = \sqrt{\frac{1+\cos x}{2}}$. (13) $\cos(\frac{\pi}{4}) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}.$ (14) $\cos(\frac{3\cdot\pi}{4}) = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}.$ (15) $\operatorname{arccos}(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}) = \frac{\pi}{4}.$ (16) $\operatorname{arccos}(-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}) = \frac{3 \cdot \pi}{4}.$ (17) (The function $\sinh)(1) = \frac{e^2 - 1}{2e}$. (18) (The function $\cosh(0) = 1$. (19) (The function $\cosh(1) = \frac{e^2 + 1}{2 \cdot e}$. (20) For every linear function L_1 holds $-L_1$ is a linear function. For every rest R_1 holds $-R_1$ is a rest. (21)(22) For all f_1 , x_0 such that f_1 is differentiable in x_0 holds $-f_1$ is differentiable in x_0 and $(-f_1)'(x_0) = -f_1'(x_0)$. (23) Let given f_1 , Z. Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}(-f_1)$ and f_1 is differentiable on Z. Then $-f_1$ is differentiable on Z and for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $(-f_1)'_{\upharpoonright Z}(x) = -f_1'(x).$ (24) —the function sin is differentiable on \mathbb{R} .
- (25) -the function cos is differentiable in x and (-the function $\cos'(x) =$ (the function $\sin)(x)$.
- (26)(i) —the function \cos is differentiable on \mathbb{R} , and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in \mathbb{R}$ holds (-the function $\cos)'(x) = (\text{the function } \sin)(x)$.
- (27) (The function $\sin)'_{\mathbb{R}}$ = the function cos.
- (28) (The function $\cos)'_{\mathbb{R}} = -\text{the function sin.}$
- (29) (-the function $\cos)'_{\mathbb{NR}}$ = the function sin.
- (30) (The function $\sinh)'_{\mathbb{IR}}$ = the function cosh.
- (31) (The function $\cosh)'_{\mathbb{NR}}$ = the function sinh.
- (32) (The function $\exp)'_{\mathbb{N}\mathbb{R}}$ = the function exp.

- (33) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}$ (the function tan) and for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $f(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$ and (the function $\cos)(x) \neq 0$. Then
 - (i) the function \tan is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds (the function $\tan)'_{\uparrow Z}(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$.
- (34) Suppose that
 - (i) $Z \subseteq \text{dom}$ (the function cot), and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $f(x) = -\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$ and (the function $\sin)(x) \neq 0$.

Then

- (iii) the function cot is differentiable on Z, and
- (iv) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds (the function $\cot)'_{|Z}(x) = -\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.

(35) For every real number
$$r$$
 holds $\operatorname{dom}(\mathbb{R} \longmapsto r) = \mathbb{R}$ and $\operatorname{rng}(\mathbb{R} \longmapsto r) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$.
Let r be a real number. The functor $\operatorname{Cst} r$ yielding a function from \mathbb{R} into \mathbb{R} is defined as follows:

(Def. 1) $\operatorname{Cst} r = \mathbb{R} \longmapsto r.$

We now state two propositions:

- (36) For all real numbers a, b and for every closed-interval subset A of \mathbb{R} holds $\chi_{A,A} = \operatorname{Cst} 1 \upharpoonright A$.
- (37) For all real numbers a, b and for every closed-interval subset A of \mathbb{R} such that A = [a, b] holds sup A = b and inf A = a.

2. Several Integrability Formulas of Special Functions

The following propositions are true:

(38) For all real numbers
$$a, b$$
 such that $a \le b$ holds $\int_{a}^{b} \operatorname{Cst} 1(x) dx = b - a$.

(39) $\int_{A} (\text{the function } \cos)(x)dx = (\text{the function } \sin)(\sup A) - (\text{the function } \sin)(\inf A).$

(40) If
$$A = [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$$
, then $\int_{A} (\text{the function } \cos)(x)dx = 1.$

(41) If
$$A = [0, \pi]$$
, then $\int_{A} (\text{the function } \cos)(x) dx = 0.$

(42) If
$$A = [0, \frac{\pi \cdot 3}{2}]$$
, then $\int_{A} (\text{the function } \cos)(x)dx = -1.$

$$\begin{array}{lll} (43) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \pi \cdot 2], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \cos)(x)dx = 0. \\ (44) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \cos)(x)dx = 0. \\ (45) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [x + 2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \cos)(x)dx = \\ & -2 \cdot \sin x. \\ (46) \quad \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = (\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \cos)(\sup A) - (\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \cos)(\sin A). \\ (47) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \frac{\pi}{2}], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = -1. \\ (48) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \pi], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = -2. \\ (49) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \frac{\pi \cdot 3}{2}], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = -1. \\ (50) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \pi \cdot 2], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = 0. \\ (51) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, \pi \cdot 2], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = 0. \\ (51) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = -2. \\ (52) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [x + 2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (-\mathrm{the}\; \mathrm{function}\; \sin)(x)dx = -2. \\ (53) \quad \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \exp})(x)dx = (\mathrm{the\; function\; \exp})(x)dx = -2. \\ (54) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, 1], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \exp})(x)dx = e - 1. \\ (55) \quad \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \sinh})(x)dx = (\mathrm{the\; function\; \cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{the\; function\; exp})(\mathrm{inf}\; A). \\ (54) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, 1], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \exp})(x)dx = e - 1. \\ (55) \quad \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \sinh})(x)dx = (\mathrm{the\; function\; \cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{the\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{inf}\; A). \\ (56) \quad \mathrm{If}\; A = [0, 1], \ \mathrm{then}\; \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \sinh})(x)dx = (\frac{e - 1}{2 \cdot e}. \\ (57) \quad \int_{A} (\mathrm{the\; function\; \cosh})(x)dx = (\mathrm{th\; function\; \sinh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(x)dx = (\mathrm{th\; function\; \sinh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(x)dx = (\mathrm{th\; function\; \sinh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; cosh})(\mathrm{sup}\; A) - (\mathrm{th\; function\; c$$

 $\sinh(\inf A)$.

(58) If
$$A = [0, 1]$$
, then $\int_{A} (\text{the function } \cosh)(x)dx = \frac{e^2 - 1}{2 \cdot e}$

- Suppose that (59)
 - $A \subseteq Z,$ (i)
 - dom (the function \tan) = Z, (ii)
- dom (the function \tan) = dom f_2 , (iii)
- for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $f_2(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$ and (the (iv)function $\cos(x) \neq 0$, and

(v)
$$f_2$$
 is continuous on A .
Then $\int_A f_2(x)dx = (\text{the function } \tan)(\sup A) - (\text{the function } \tan)(\inf A).$

- (60) Suppose that
 - (i) $A \subseteq Z,$
 - dom (the function \cot) = Z, (ii)
- (iii) dom (the function \cot) = dom f_2 ,
- for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $f_2(x) = -\frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}$ and (the (iv)function $\sin(x) \neq 0$, and
- (v) f_2 is continuous on A. Then $\int f_2(x)dx = (\text{the function cot})(\sup A) - (\text{the function cot})(\inf A).$
- (61) Suppose dom (the function \tanh) = dom f_2 and for every x such that $x \in \mathbb{R}$ holds $f_2(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function <math>\cosh(x)^2})}$ and f_2 is continuous on A. Then $\int f_2(x)dx = (\text{the function tanh})(\sup A) - (\text{the function tanh})(\inf A).$
- (62) Suppose $A \subseteq \left]-1, 1\right[$ and dom((the function $\arcsin)'_{\left[\right]-1,1\left[\right]}$) = dom f_2 and for every x holds $x \in [-1,1[$ and $f_2(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}$ and f_2 is continuous on A. Then $\int f_2(x)dx = (\text{the function arcsin})(\sup A) - (\text{the function})$ $\arcsin)(\inf A).^A$
- (63) Suppose $A \subseteq [-1, 1[$ and dom((the function $\arccos)'_{[]-1,1[}) = \text{dom } f_2$ and for every x holds $x \in [-1, 1[$ and $f_2(x) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}$ and f_2 is continuous on A. Then $\int f_2(x)dx = (\text{the function accos})(\sup A) - (\text{the function})$ $\arccos)(\inf A).$
- (64) Suppose that
- (i) $A = \left[-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}\right],$ (ii) dom((the function $\operatorname{arcsin})'_{[]-1,1[}) = \operatorname{dom} f_2,$

(iii) for every x holds
$$x \in]-1, 1[$$
 and $f_2(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}$, and
(iv) f_2 is continuous on A.
Then $\int_A f_2(x)dx = \frac{\pi}{2}$.
(65) Suppose that
(i) $A = [-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}]$,
(ii) dom((the function $\arccos(s)'_{||-1,1|}) = \operatorname{dom} f_2$,
(iii) for every x holds $x \in]-1, 1[$ and $f_2(x) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-x^2}}$, and
(iv) f_2 is continuous on A.
Then $\int_A f_2(x)dx = -\frac{\pi}{2}$.
(66) Suppose that f is differentiable on Z and g is differentiable on Z and
 $A \subseteq Z$ and $f'_{|Z}$ is integrable on A and $f'_{|Z}$ is bounded on A and $g'_{|Z}$ is
integrable on A and $g'_{|Z}$ is bounded on A. Then $\int_A (f'_{|Z} + g'_{|Z})(x)dx =$
($(f(\sup A) - f(\inf A)) + g(\sup A)) - g(\inf A)$.
(67) Suppose that f is differentiable on Z and g is differentiable on Z and
 $A \subseteq Z$ and $f'_{|Z}$ is integrable on A and $f'_{|Z}$ is bounded on A and $g'_{|Z}$ is
integrable on A and $g'_{|Z}$ is bounded on A. Then $\int_A (f'_{|Z} - g'_{|Z})(x)dx =$
($(f(\sup A) - f(\inf A)) - (g(\sup A) - g(\inf A))$.
(68) Suppose that f is differentiable on Z and $A \subseteq Z$ and $f'_{|Z}$ is integrable on A
and $f'_{|Z}$ is bounded on A. Then $\int_A (rf'_{|Z})(x)dx = r \cdot f(\sup A) - r \cdot f(\inf A)$.
(69) $\int_A ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = (((-\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 2.$
(70) If $A = [0, \pi]$, then $\int_A ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 2.$
(72) If $A = [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$, then $\int_A ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 2.$
(73) If $A = [0, \pi \cdot 2]$, then $\int_A ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 2.$
(73) If $A = [0, \pi \cdot 2]$, then $\int_A ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 2.$

0.
(74) If
$$A = [2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$$
, then

$$\int_{A}^{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) + (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2.$$
(75) If $A = [x + 2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$, then

$$\int_{A}^{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) + (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2 \cdot \cos x - 2 \cdot \sin x.$$
(76) $\int_{A}^{A} ((\text{the function } \sinh) + (\text{the function } \cosh))(x)dx = (((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) + ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) - ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) + ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) - ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) + ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) - ((\text{the function } \sinh))(\sin A)) + ((\text{the function } \cosh))(x)dx = e - 1.$
(77) If $A = [0, 1]$, then $\int_{A}^{A} ((\text{the function } \sinh) + (\text{the function } \cosh))(x)dx = e - 1.$
(78) $\int_{A}^{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = (-\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = e - 1.$
(78) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = (-\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = e - 1.$
(78) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin)) - (\text{the function } \sin))(\sup A) - (\text{the function } \sin))(\sup A) - (\text{the function } \sin))(x)dx = (-\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = (-\text{the function } \sin))(x)dx = 0.$
(79) If $A = [0, \pi]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2.$
(81) If $A = [0, \pi]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2.$
(82) If $A = [0, \pi \cdot 2]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 0.$
(83) If $A = [2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin)) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2.$
(84) If $A = [x + 2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function } \sin)) - (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 2 \cdot \cos x + 2 \cdot \sin x.$
(85) $\int_{A} (r (\text{the function } \sin)))(x)dx = r \cdot (-\text{the function } \cos)(\sin A) - r \cdot (-\text{the function } \cos))(\sin A).$

- (86) $\int_{A} (r \text{ (the function cos)})(x) dx = r \cdot (\text{the function sin})(\sup A) r \cdot (\text{the function sin})(\inf A).$
- (87) $\int_{A} (r \text{ (the function sinh)})(x) dx = r \cdot (\text{the function cosh})(\sup A) r \cdot (\text{the function cosh})(\inf A).$
- (88) $\int_{A} (r \text{ (the function cosh)})(x) dx = r \cdot (\text{the function sinh})(\sup A) r \cdot (\text{the function sinh})(\inf A).$
- (89) $\int_{A} (r \text{ (the function exp)})(x) dx = r \cdot (\text{the function exp})(\sup A) r \cdot (\text{the function exp})(\inf A).$
- (90) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = \frac{1}{2} \cdot ((\text{the function } \cos)(\inf A) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(\inf A) (\text{the function } \cos)(\sup A) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(\sup A)).$

(91) If
$$A = [0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$$
, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = \frac{1}{2}$.

(92) If
$$A = [0, \pi]$$
, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function } \cos))(x)dx = 0.$

(93) If
$$A = [0, \pi \cdot \frac{3}{2}]$$
, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = \frac{1}{2}.$

(94) If
$$A = [0, \pi \cdot 2]$$
, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function cos}))(x) dx = 0.$

(95) If $A = [2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$, then $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 0.$ (96) If $A = [x + 2 \cdot n \cdot \pi, x + (2 \cdot n + 1) \cdot \pi]$, then

ſ

$$\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin}) (\text{the function cos}))(x)dx = 0.$$

(97) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sin})(\text{the function sin}))(x)dx = ((\text{the function cos})(\text{inf } A) \cdot ((\text{the function sin}))(\text{inf } A) - ((\text{the function cos})((\text{sup } A)) \cdot ((\text{the function sin}))((\text{sup } A))) + \int_{A} (((\text{the function cos}))(x)dx) \cdot ((\text{the function cos}))(x) \cdot ((\text{the function cos}))(x) \cdot ((\text{the function cos}))(x) \cdot ((\text{the function cos}))(x) \cdot ((\text{the fun$

- (98) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sinh}) (\text{the function sinh}))(x)dx = (\text{the function cosh}) ((\sup A) \cdot (\inf A) \cdot (\inf A) \cdot (\inf A) (\inf A) (\inf A) (\inf A) \cdot (\inf A) (i + 1) (i + 1)$
- (99) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function sinh}) (\text{the function cosh}))(x)dx = \frac{1}{2} \cdot ((\text{the function cosh})(\sup A) \cdot (\text{the function cosh})(\sup A) (\text{the function cosh})(\inf A) \cdot (\text{the function cosh})(\inf A)).$
- (100) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function exp}) (\text{the function exp}))(x)dx = \frac{1}{2} \cdot ((\text{the function exp})(\sup A)^2 (\text{the function exp})(\inf A)^2).$
- (101) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function exp}) ((\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos})))(x)dx = ((\text{the function exp}) (\text{the function sin}))(\sup A) ((\text{the function exp}) (\text{the function sin}))(\inf A).$
- (102) $\int_{A} ((\text{the function exp}) ((\text{the function } \cos) (\text{the function } \sin)))(x)dx =$

((the function exp) (the function \cos))(sup A) – ((the function exp) (the function \cos))(inf A).

References

- Grzegorz Bancerek. The fundamental properties of natural numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):41-46, 1990.
- [2] Czesław Byliński. The complex numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):507–513, 1990.
- [3] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):55-65, 1990.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Functions from a set to a set. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):153–164, 1990.
 [5] D. B. B. K. K. B. Sterner, Phys. Rev. B 100, 1000 (1990).
- [5] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- [6] Czesław Byliński and Piotr Rudnicki. Bounding boxes for compact sets in E². Formalized Mathematics, 6(3):427–440, 1997.
- [7] Noboru Endou and Artur Korniłowicz. The definition of the Riemann definite integral and some related lemmas. *Formalized Mathematics*, 8(1):93–102, 1999.
- [8] Noboru Endou, Katsumi Wasaki, and Yasunari Shidama. Definition of integrability for partial functions from R to R and integrability for continuous functions. *Formalized Mathematics*, 9(2):281–284, 2001.
- [9] Krzysztof Hryniewiecki. Basic properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):35–40, 1990.
- [10] Artur Korniłowicz and Yasunari Shidama. Inverse trigonometric functions arcsin and arccos. Formalized Mathematics, 13(1):73–79, 2005.
- [11] Jarosław Kotowicz. Convergent sequences and the limit of sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):273–275, 1990.
- [12] Jarosław Kotowicz. Partial functions from a domain to the set of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):703-709, 1990.

- [13] Jarosław Kotowicz. Real sequences and basic operations on them. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):269-272, 1990.
- [14] Takashi Mitsuishi and Yuguang Yang. Properties of the trigonometric function. Formalized Mathematics, 8(1):103–106, 1999.
- [15] Konrad Raczkowski and Andrzej Nędzusiak. Real exponents and logarithms. Formalized Mathematics, 2(2):213-216, 1991.
- [16] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Real function continuity. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):787–791, 1990.
- [17] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Real function differentiability. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):797–801, 1990.
- [18] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Topological properties of subsets in real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):777–780, 1990.
- [19] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
- [20] Andrzej Trybulec. Binary operations applied to functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):329–334, 1990.
- [21] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [22] Andrzej Trybulec. On the sets inhabited by numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 11(4):341– 347, 2003.
- [23] Andrzej Trybulec and Czesław Byliński. Some properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):445–449, 1990.
- [24] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [25] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.
- [26] Yuguang Yang and Yasunari Shidama. Trigonometric functions and existence of circle ratio. Formalized Mathematics, 7(2):255–263, 1998.

Received August 28, 2007

Basic Properties of the Rank of Matrices over a Field

Karol Pąk Institute of Computer Science University of Białystok Poland

Summary. In this paper I present selected properties of triangular matrices and basic properties of the rank of matrices over a field.

I define a submatrix as a matrix formed by selecting certain rows and columns from a bigger matrix. That is in my considerations, as an array, it is cut down to those entries constrained by row and column. Then I introduce the concept of the rank of a $m \times n$ matrix A by the condition: A has the rank r if and only if, there is a $r \times r$ submatrix of A with a non-zero determinant, and for every $k \times k$ submatrix of A with a non-zero determinant we have $k \leq r$.

At the end, I prove that the rank defined by the size of the biggest submatrix with a non-zero determinant of a matrix A, is the same as the maximal number of linearly independent rows of A.

MML identifier: MATRIX13, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The articles [27], [10], [37], [23], [1], [2], [12], [38], [39], [7], [8], [3], [4], [24], [36], [31], [15], [6], [13], [28], [14], [41], [30], [19], [34], [42], [9], [22], [16], [11], [25], [40], [18], [20], [26], [33], [21], [17], [35], [32], [29], [43], and [5] provide the terminology and notation for this paper.

1. TRIANGULAR MATRICES

For simplicity, we use the following convention: x, X, Y are sets, D is a non empty set, i, j, k, m, n, m', n' are elements of $\mathbb{N}, i_0, j_0, n_0, m_0$ are non zero elements of \mathbb{N}, K is a field, a, b are elements of K, p is a finite sequence of elements of K, and M is a matrix over K of dimension n.

Next we state a number of propositions:

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

KAROL PĄK

- (1) For every matrix A over D of dimension $n \times m$ holds if n = 0, then m = 0 iff len A = n and width A = m.
- (2) The following statements are equivalent
- (i) M is a lower triangular matrix over K of dimension n,
- (ii) M^{T} is an upper triangular matrix over K of dimension n.
- (3) The diagonal of M = the diagonal of M^{T} .
- (4) Let p_1 be an element of the permutations of *n*-element set. Suppose $p_1 \neq \text{idseq}(n)$. Then there exists *i* such that $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $p_1(i) > i$ and there exists *j* such that $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and $p_1(j) < j$.
- (5) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and p_1 be an element of the permutations of n-element set. Suppose that
- (i) $p_1 \neq \text{idseq}(n)$, and
- (ii) M is a lower triangular matrix over K of dimension n or an upper triangular matrix over K of dimension n.
 Then (the product on paths of M)(p₁) = 0_K.
- (6) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and I be an element of the permutations of n-element set. If I = idseq(n), then the diagonal of M = I-Path M.
- (7) Let M be an upper triangular matrix over K of dimension n. Then Det M = (the multiplication of $K) \circledast ($ the diagonal of M).
- (8) Let M be a lower triangular matrix over K of dimension n. Then Det M = (the multiplication of $K) \otimes ($ the diagonal of M).
- (9) For every finite set X and for every n holds $\overline{\{Y; Y \text{ ranges over subsets of } X: \text{ card } Y = n\}} = \binom{\operatorname{card} X}{n}.$
- (10) $\overline{2\text{Set Seg }n} = \binom{n}{2}.$
- (11) Let R be an element of the permutations of n-element set. If R = Rev(idseq(n)), then R is even iff $\binom{n}{2} \mod 2 = 0$.
- (12) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and R be a permutation of Seg n. Suppose R = Rev(idseq(n)) and for all i, j such that $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and $i + j \leq n$ holds $M_{i,j} = 0_K$. Then $M \cdot R$ is an upper triangular matrix over K of dimension n.
- (13) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and R be a permutation of Seg n. Suppose R = Rev(idseq(n)) and for all i, j such that $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and i + j > n + 1 holds $M_{i,j} = 0_K$. Then $M \cdot R$ is a lower triangular matrix over K of dimension n.
- (14) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and R be an element of the permutations of n-element set. Suppose that
 - (i) $R = \operatorname{Rev}(\operatorname{idseq}(n))$, and
 - (ii) for all i, j such that $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and $i+j \leq n$ holds $M_{i,j} = 0_K$ or for all i, j such that $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and i+j > n+1
holds $M_{i,j} = 0_K$. Then Det $M = (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(R)}$ (the multiplication of $K \odot (R \operatorname{-Path} M)$).

- (15) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and M_1 , M_2 be upper triangular matrices over K of dimension n. Suppose $M = M_1 \cdot M_2$. Then
 - (i) M is an upper triangular matrix over K of dimension n, and
 - (ii) the diagonal of M =(the diagonal of M_1) (the diagonal of M_2).
- (16) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension n and M_1, M_2 be lower triangular matrices over K of dimension n. Suppose $M = M_1 \cdot M_2$. Then
 - (i) M is a lower triangular matrix over K of dimension n, and
 - (ii) the diagonal of M = (the diagonal of $M_1) \bullet ($ the diagonal of $M_2).$

2. The Rank of Matrices

Let D be a non empty set, let M be a matrix over D, let n, m be natural numbers, let n_1 be an element of \mathbb{N}^n , and let m_1 be an element of \mathbb{N}^m . The functor $\operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1)$ yielding a matrix over D of dimension $n \times m$ is defined as follows:

(Def. 1) For all natural numbers i, j such that $\langle i, j \rangle \in$ the indices of $\operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1)$ holds $(\operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1))_{i,j} = M_{n_1(i), m_1(j)}$.

For simplicity, we follow the rules: A denotes a matrix over D, A' denotes a matrix over D of dimension $n' \times m'$, M' denotes a matrix over K of dimension $n' \times m'$, n_1 , n_2 , n_3 denote elements of \mathbb{N}^n , m_1 , m_2 denote elements of \mathbb{N}^m , and M denotes a matrix over K.

Next we state a number of propositions:

- (17) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A, then $\langle i, j \rangle \in$ the indices of $\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1)$ iff $\langle n_1(i), m_1(j) \rangle \in$ the indices of A.
- (18) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A and n = 0 iff m = 0, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1))^{\mathrm{T}} = \operatorname{Segm}(A^{\mathrm{T}}, m_1, n_1).$
- (19) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A and if m = 0, then n = 0, then $\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1) = (\operatorname{Segm}(A^{\mathrm{T}}, m_1, n_1))^{\mathrm{T}}$.
- (20) For every matrix A over D of dimension 1 holds $A = \langle \langle A_{1,1} \rangle \rangle$.
- (21) If n = 1 and m = 1, then Segm $(A, n_1, m_1) = \langle \langle A_{n_1(1), m_1(1)} \rangle \rangle$.
- (22) For every matrix A over D of dimension 2 holds $A = \begin{pmatrix} A_{1,1} & A_{1,2} \\ A_{2,1} & A_{2,2} \end{pmatrix}$.
- (23) If n = 2 and m = 2, then Segm $(A, n_1, m_1) = \begin{pmatrix} A_{n_1(1),m_1(1)} & A_{n_1(1),m_1(2)} \\ A_{n_1(2),m_1(1)} & A_{n_1(2),m_1(2)} \end{pmatrix}$.
- (24) If $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $\operatorname{rng} m_1 \subseteq \text{Seg width } A$, then $\operatorname{Line}(\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1), i) = \operatorname{Line}(A, n_1(i)) \cdot m_1$.

KAROL PĄK

- (25) If $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and $n_1(i) = n_1(j)$, then Line(Segm(A, n_1, m_1), i) = Line(Segm(A, n_1, m_1), j).
- (26) If $i \in \text{Seg } n$ and $j \in \text{Seg } n$ and $n_1(i) = n_1(j)$ and $i \neq j$, then $\text{Det Segm}(M, n_1, n_2) = 0_K$.
- (27) If n_1 is not one-to-one, then Det Segm $(M, n_1, n_2) = 0_K$.
- (28) If $j \in \operatorname{Seg} m$ and $\operatorname{rng} n_1 \subseteq \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} A$, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1))_{\Box, j} = A_{\Box, m_1(j)} \cdot n_1$.
- (29) If $i \in \operatorname{Seg} m$ and $j \in \operatorname{Seg} m$ and $m_1(i) = m_1(j)$, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1))_{\Box,i} = (\operatorname{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1))_{\Box,j}.$
- (30) If $i \in \text{Seg } m$ and $j \in \text{Seg } m$ and $m_1(i) = m_1(j)$ and $i \neq j$, then $\text{Det Segm}(M, m_2, m_1) = 0_K$.
- (31) If m_1 is not one-to-one, then Det Segm $(M, m_2, m_1) = 0_K$.
- (32) Let n_1 , n_2 be elements of \mathbb{N}^n . Suppose n_1 is one-to-one and n_2 is one-to-one and $\operatorname{rng} n_1 = \operatorname{rng} n_2$. Then there exists a permutation p_1 of $\operatorname{Seg} n$ such that $n_2 = n_1 \cdot p_1$.
- (33) For every function f from Seg n into Seg n such that $n_2 = n_1 \cdot f$ holds $\text{Segm}(A, n_2, m_1) = \text{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1) \cdot f$.
- (34) For every function f from Seg m into Seg m such that $m_2 = m_1 \cdot f$ holds $(\text{Segm}(A, n_1, m_2))^{\text{T}} = (\text{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1))^{\text{T}} \cdot f.$
- (35) Let p_1 be an element of the permutations of *n*-element set. If $n_2 = n_3 \cdot p_1$, then $\text{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_2, n_1) = (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(p_1)} \operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_3, n_1)$ and $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, n_2) = (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(p_1)} \operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, n_3).$
- (36) For all elements n_1 , n_2 , n'_1 , n'_2 of \mathbb{N}^n such that $\operatorname{rng} n_1 = \operatorname{rng} n'_1$ and $\operatorname{rng} n_2 = \operatorname{rng} n'_2$ holds $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, n_2) = \operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n'_1, n'_2)$ or $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, n_2) = -\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n'_1, n'_2).$
- (37) Let F, F_1 be finite sequences of elements of D and given n_1, m_1 . Suppose len F = width A' and $F_1 = F \cdot m_1$ and $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A'. Let given i, j. If $n_1^{-1}(\{j\}) = \{i\}$, then $\operatorname{RLine}(\operatorname{Segm}(A', n_1, m_1), i, F_1) = \operatorname{Segm}(\operatorname{RLine}(A', j, F), n_1, m_1)$.
- (38) Let F be a finite sequence of elements of D and given i, n_1 . If $i \notin \operatorname{rng} n_1$ and $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A', then $\operatorname{Segm}(A', n_1, m_1) = \operatorname{Segm}(\operatorname{RLine}(A', i, F), n_1, m_1)$.
- (39) If $i \in \text{Seg } n'$ and $i \in \text{rng } n_1$ and $[\text{rng } n_1, \text{rng } m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of A', then there exists n_2 such that $\text{rng } n_2 = (\text{rng } n_1 \setminus \{i\}) \cup \{j\}$ and $\text{Segm}(\text{RLine}(A', i, \text{Line}(A', j)), n_1, m_1) = \text{Segm}(A', n_2, m_1).$
- (40) For every finite sequence F of elements of D such that $i \notin \text{Seglen } A'$ holds RLine(A', i, F) = A'.

Let n, m be natural numbers, let K be a field, let M be a matrix over K of dimension $n \times m$, and let a be an element of K. Then $a \cdot M$ is a matrix over

202

K of dimension $n \times m$.

We now state two propositions:

- (41) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of M, then $a \cdot \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1) = \operatorname{Segm}(a \cdot M, n_1, m_1)$.
- (42) If $n_1 = \text{idseq}(\text{len } A)$ and $m_1 = \text{idseq}(\text{width } A)$, then $\text{Segm}(A, n_1, m_1) = A$.

Let us observe that there exists a subset of \mathbb{N} which is empty, without zero, and finite and there exists a subset of \mathbb{N} which is non empty, without zero, and finite.

Let us consider n. Observe that Seg n is without zero.

Let X be a without zero set and let Y be a set. One can verify that $X \setminus Y$ is without zero and $X \cap Y$ is without zero.

One can prove the following proposition

(43) For every finite without zero subset N of N there exists k such that $N \subseteq \text{Seg } k$.

Let N be a finite without zero subset of N. Then $\operatorname{Sgm} N$ is an element of $\mathbb{N}^{\operatorname{card} N}$.

Let D be a non empty set, let A be a matrix over D, and let P, Q be without zero finite subsets of N. The functor Segm(A, P, Q) yields a matrix over D of dimension card $P \times \text{card } Q$ and is defined by:

(Def. 2) $\operatorname{Segm}(A, P, Q) = \operatorname{Segm}(A, \operatorname{Sgm} P, \operatorname{Sgm} Q).$

Next we state two propositions:

- (44) Segm $(A, \{i_0\}, \{j_0\}) = \langle \langle A_{i_0, j_0} \rangle \rangle.$
- (45) If $i_0 < j_0$ and $n_0 < m_0$, then $\text{Segm}(A, \{i_0, j_0\}, \{n_0, m_0\}) = \begin{pmatrix} A_{i_0, n_0} & A_{i_0, m_0} \\ A_{j_0, n_0} & A_{j_0, m_0} \end{pmatrix}$.

In the sequel P, P_1 , P_2 , Q, Q_1 , Q_2 are without zero finite subsets of \mathbb{N} . The following propositions are true:

- (46) $\operatorname{Segm}(A, \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} A, \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{width} A) = A.$
- (47) If $i \in \text{Seg card } P$ and $Q \subseteq \text{Seg width } A$, then $\text{Line}(\text{Segm}(A, P, Q), i) = \text{Line}(A, (\text{Sgm } P)(i)) \cdot \text{Sgm } Q$.
- (48) If $i \in \text{Seg card } P$, then Line(Segm(A, P, Seg width A), i) = Line(A, (Sgm P)(i)).
- (49) If $j \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{card} Q$ and $P \subseteq \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} A$, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, P, Q))_{\Box,j} = A_{\Box, (\operatorname{Sgm} Q)(j)} \cdot \operatorname{Sgm} P$.
- (50) If $j \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{card} Q$, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} A, Q))_{\Box,j} = A_{\Box, (\operatorname{Sgm} Q)(j)}$.
- (51) Segm(A, Seg len $A \setminus \{i\}$, Seg width A) = $A_{\uparrow i}$.
- (52) Segm(M, Seg len M, Seg width $M \setminus \{i\}$) = the deleting of *i*-column in M.
- (53) $(\operatorname{Sgm} P)^{-1}(X)$ is a without zero finite subset of \mathbb{N} .

KAROL PĄK

- (54) If $X \subseteq P$, then $\operatorname{Sgm} X = \operatorname{Sgm} P \cdot \operatorname{Sgm}((\operatorname{Sgm} P)^{-1}(X))$.
- (55) $[(\operatorname{Sgm} P)^{-1}(X), (\operatorname{Sgm} Q)^{-1}(Y)] \subseteq \text{the indices of } \operatorname{Segm}(A, P, Q).$
- (56) If $P \subseteq P_1$ and $Q \subseteq Q_1$ and $P_2 = (\operatorname{Sgm} P_1)^{-1}(P)$ and $Q_2 = (\operatorname{Sgm} Q_1)^{-1}(Q)$, then $[\operatorname{rng} \operatorname{Sgm} P_2, \operatorname{rng} \operatorname{Sgm} Q_2] \subseteq$ the indices of $\operatorname{Segm}(A, P_1, Q_1)$ and $\operatorname{Segm}(\operatorname{Segm}(A, P_1, Q_1), P_2, Q_2) = \operatorname{Segm}(A, P, Q)$.
- (57) Suppose $P = \emptyset$ iff $Q = \emptyset$ and $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of Segm (A, P_1, Q_1) . Then there exist P_2 , Q_2 such that $P_2 \subseteq P_1$ and $Q_2 \subseteq Q_1$ and $P_2 = (\operatorname{Sgm} P_1)^{\circ}P$ and $Q_2 = (\operatorname{Sgm} Q_1)^{\circ}Q$ and card $P_2 = \operatorname{card} P$ and card $Q_2 = \operatorname{card} Q$ and Segm $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, P_1, Q_1), P, Q) = \operatorname{Segm}(A, P_2, Q_2)$.
- (58) For every matrix M over K of dimension n holds $\text{Segm}(M, \text{Seg } n \setminus \{i\}, \text{Seg } n \setminus \{j\}) =$ the deleting of *i*-row and *j*-column in M.
- (59) Let F, F_2 be finite sequences of elements of D. Suppose len F = width A' and $F_2 = F \cdot \text{Sgm} Q$ and $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A'. Then $\text{RLine}(\text{Segm}(A', P, Q), i, F_2) = \text{Segm}(\text{RLine}(A', (\text{Sgm} P)(i), F), P, Q).$
- (60) Let F be a finite sequence of elements of D and given i, P. If $i \notin P$ and $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A', then Segm(A', P, Q) = Segm(RLine(A', i, F), P, Q).
- (61) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A and card P = 0 iff card Q = 0, then $(\operatorname{Segm}(A, P, Q))^{\mathrm{T}} = \operatorname{Segm}(A^{\mathrm{T}}, Q, P).$
- (62) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A and if card Q = 0, then card P = 0, then Segm $(A, P, Q) = (\text{Segm}(A^{T}, Q, P))^{T}$.
- (63) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M, then $a \cdot \text{Segm}(M, P, Q) = \text{Segm}(a \cdot M, P, Q)$.

Let D be a non empty set, let A be a matrix over D, and let P, Q be without zero finite subsets of N. Let us assume that card P = card Q. The functor EqSegm(A, P, Q) yields a matrix over D of dimension card P and is defined by:

(Def. 3) EqSegm(A, P, Q) = Segm(A, P, Q).

Next we state several propositions:

- (64) For all P, Q, i, j such that $i \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{card} P$ and $j \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{card} P$ and $\operatorname{card} P = \operatorname{card} Q$ holds $\operatorname{Delete}(\operatorname{EqSegm}(M, P, Q), i, j) = \operatorname{EqSegm}(M, P \setminus \{(\operatorname{Sgm} P)(i)\}, Q \setminus \{(\operatorname{Sgm} Q)(j)\})$ and $\operatorname{card}(P \setminus \{(\operatorname{Sgm} P)(i)\}) = \operatorname{card}(Q \setminus \{(\operatorname{Sgm} Q)(j)\}).$
- (65) For all M, P, P_1, Q_1 such that card $P_1 = \text{card } Q_1$ and $P \subseteq P_1$ and Det EqSegm $(M, P_1, Q_1) \neq 0_K$ there exists Q such that $Q \subseteq Q_1$ and card P = card Q and Det EqSegm $(M, P, Q) \neq 0_K$.
- (66) For all M, P_1 , Q, Q_1 such that card $P_1 = \text{card } Q_1$ and $Q \subseteq Q_1$ and Det EqSegm $(M, P_1, Q_1) \neq 0_K$ there exists P such that $P \subseteq P_1$ and card P = card Q and Det EqSegm $(M, P, Q) \neq 0_K$.
- (67) If card $P = \operatorname{card} Q$, then $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A iff $P \subseteq \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} A$

and $Q \subseteq \text{Seg width } A$.

- (68) Let given P, Q, i, j_0 . Suppose $i \in \text{Seg } n'$ and $j_0 \in \text{Seg } n'$ and $i \in P$ and $j_0 \notin P$ and card P = card Q and $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M'. Then card $P = \text{card}((P \setminus \{i\}) \cup \{j_0\})$ but $[(P \setminus \{i\}) \cup \{j_0\}, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M'but Det EqSegm(RLine $(M', i, \text{Line}(M', j_0)), P, Q) = \text{Det EqSegm}(M', (P \setminus \{i\}) \cup \{j_0\}, Q)$ or Det EqSegm(RLine $(M', i, \text{Line}(M', j_0)), P, Q) = -\text{Det EqSegm}(M', (P \setminus \{i\}) \cup \{j_0\}, Q).$
- (69) If card $P = \operatorname{card} Q$, then $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of A iff $[Q, P] \subseteq$ the indices of A^{T} .
- (70) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M and card P = card Q, then Det EqSegm(M, P, Q) = Det EqSegm (M^{T}, Q, P) .
- (71) For every matrix M over K of dimension n holds $\text{Det}(a \cdot M) = \text{power}_{K}(a, n) \cdot \text{Det } M$.
- (72) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M and card $P = \operatorname{card} Q$, then $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{EqSegm}(a \cdot M, P, Q) = \operatorname{power}_{K}(a, \operatorname{card} P) \cdot \operatorname{Det} \operatorname{EqSegm}(M, P, Q).$

Let K be a field and let M be a matrix over K. The functor rk(M) yielding an element of N is defined by the conditions (Def. 4).

- (Def. 4)(i) There exist P, Q such that $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M and card $P = \operatorname{card} Q$ and card $P = \operatorname{rk}(M)$ and Det $\operatorname{EqSegm}(M, P, Q) \neq 0_K$, and
 - (ii) for all P_1 , Q_1 such that $[P_1, Q_1] \subseteq$ the indices of M and card $P_1 =$ card Q_1 and Det EqSegm $(M, P_1, Q_1) \neq 0_K$ holds card $P_1 \leq$ rk(M).

The following propositions are true:

- (73) For all P, Q such that $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M and card $P = \operatorname{card} Q$ holds card $P \leq \operatorname{len} M$ and card $Q \leq \operatorname{width} M$.
- (74) $\operatorname{rk}(M) \leq \operatorname{len} M$ and $\operatorname{rk}(M) \leq \operatorname{width} M$.
- (75) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_2, \operatorname{rng} n_3] \subseteq$ the indices of M and $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_2, n_3) \neq 0_K$, then there exist P_1 , P_2 such that $P_1 = \operatorname{rng} n_2$ and $P_2 = \operatorname{rng} n_3$ and $\operatorname{card} P_1 = \operatorname{card} P_2$ and $\operatorname{card} P_1 = n$ and $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{EqSegm}(M, P_1, P_2) \neq 0_K$.
- (76) Let R_1 be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then $\operatorname{rk}(M) = R_1$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) there exist elements r_1 , r_2 of \mathbb{N}^{R_1} such that $[\operatorname{rng} r_1, \operatorname{rng} r_2] \subseteq$ the indices of M and $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, r_1, r_2) \neq 0_K$, and
 - (ii) for all n, n_2, n_3 such that $[\operatorname{rng} n_2, \operatorname{rng} n_3] \subseteq$ the indices of M and $\operatorname{Det} \operatorname{Segm}(M, n_2, n_3) \neq 0_K$ holds $n \leq R_1$.
- (77) If n = 0 or m = 0, then $rk(Segm(M, n_1, m_1)) = 0$.
- (78) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] \subseteq$ the indices of M, then $\operatorname{rk}(M) \ge \operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1)).$
- (79) If $[P, Q] \subseteq$ the indices of M, then $\operatorname{rk}(M) \ge \operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Segm}(M, P, Q))$.
- (80) If $P \subseteq P_1$ and $Q \subseteq Q_1$, then $\operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Segm}(M, P, Q)) \leq \operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Segm}(M, P_1, Q_1))$.

KAROL PĄK

- (81) For all functions f, g such that $\operatorname{rng} f \subseteq \operatorname{rng} g$ there exists a function h such that dom $h = \operatorname{dom} f$ and $\operatorname{rng} h \subseteq \operatorname{dom} g$ and $f = g \cdot h$.
- (82) If $[\operatorname{rng} n_1, \operatorname{rng} m_1] =$ the indices of M, then $\operatorname{rk}(M) = \operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{Segm}(M, n_1, m_1)).$
- (83) For every matrix M over K of dimension n holds $\operatorname{rk}(M) = n$ iff $\operatorname{Det} M \neq 0_K$.
- (84) $\operatorname{rk}(M) = \operatorname{rk}(M^{\mathrm{T}}).$
- (85) For every matrix M over K of dimension $n \times m$ and for every permutation F of Seg n holds $\operatorname{rk}(M) = \operatorname{rk}(M \cdot F)$.
- (86) If $a \neq 0_K$, then $\operatorname{rk}(M) = \operatorname{rk}(a \cdot M)$.
- (87) Let p, p_2 be finite sequences of elements of K and f be a function. If $p_2 = p \cdot f$ and $\operatorname{rng} f \subseteq \operatorname{dom} p$, then $a \cdot p \cdot f = a \cdot p_2$.
- (88) Let p, p_2, q, q_1 be finite sequences of elements of K and f be a function. If $p_2 = p \cdot f$ and $\operatorname{rng} f \subseteq \operatorname{dom} p$ and $q_1 = q \cdot f$ and $\operatorname{rng} f \subseteq \operatorname{dom} q$, then $(p+q) \cdot f = p_2 + q_1$.
- (89) If $a \neq 0_K$, then $\operatorname{rk}(M') = \operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{RLine}(M', i, a \cdot \operatorname{Line}(M', i)))$.
- (90) If $\operatorname{Line}(M, i) = \operatorname{width} M \mapsto 0_K$, then $\operatorname{rk}(\operatorname{the deleting of } i\operatorname{-row in } M) = \operatorname{rk}(M)$.
- (91) For every p such that len p = width M' holds rk(the deleting of *i*-row in M') = rk(RLine($M', i, 0_K \cdot p$)).
- (92) If $j \in \text{Seglen } M'$ and if i = j, then $a \neq -\mathbf{1}_K$, then $\text{rk}(M') = \text{rk}(\text{RLine}(M', i, \text{Line}(M', i) + a \cdot \text{Line}(M', j))).$
- (93) If $j \in \text{Seglen } M'$ and $j \neq i$, then $\text{rk}(\text{the deleting of } i\text{-row in } M') = \text{rk}(\text{RLine}(M', i, a \cdot \text{Line}(M', j))).$
- (94) $\operatorname{rk}(M) > 0$ iff there exist i, j such that $\langle i, j \rangle \in$ the indices of M and $M_{i,j} \neq 0_K$.

(95)
$$\operatorname{rk}(M) = 0$$
 iff $M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{K}^{(\operatorname{len} M) \times (\operatorname{width} M)}$

- (96) $\operatorname{rk}(M) = 1$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) there exist i, j such that $\langle i, j \rangle \in$ the indices of M and $M_{i,j} \neq 0_K$, and
- (ii) for all i_0, j_0, n_0, m_0 such that $i_0 \neq j_0$ and $n_0 \neq m_0$ and $[\{i_0, j_0\}, \{n_0, m_0\}\}] \subseteq$ the indices of M holds Det EqSegm $(M, \{i_0, j_0\}, \{n_0, m_0\}) = 0_K$.
- (97) $\operatorname{rk}(M) = 1$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) there exist i, j such that $\langle i, j \rangle \in$ the indices of M and $M_{i,j} \neq 0_K$, and
- (ii) for all i, j, n, m such that $[\{i, j\}, \{n, m\}] \subseteq$ the indices of M holds $M_{i,n} \cdot M_{j,m} = M_{i,m} \cdot M_{j,n}$.

(98) $\operatorname{rk}(M) = 1$ if and only if there exists *i* such that $i \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} M$ and there exists *j* such that $j \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{width} M$ and $M_{i,j} \neq 0_K$ and for every *k* such that $k \in \operatorname{Seg} \operatorname{len} M$ there exists *a* such that $\operatorname{Line}(M, k) = a \cdot \operatorname{Line}(M, i)$.

Let us consider K. Observe that there exists a matrix over K which is diagonal.

One can prove the following propositions:

- (99) Let M be a diagonal matrix over K and N_1 be a set. Suppose $N_1 = \{i : \langle i, i \rangle \in \text{the indices of } M \land M_{i,i} \neq 0_K\}$. Let given P, Q. If $[P, Q] \subseteq \text{the indices of } M$ and card P = card Q and Det EqSegm $(M, P, Q) \neq 0_K$, then $P \subseteq N_1$ and $Q \subseteq N_1$.
- (100) For every diagonal matrix M over K and for every P such that $[P, P] \subseteq$ the indices of M holds Segm(M, P, P) is diagonal.
- (101) Let M be a diagonal matrix over K and N_1 be a set. If $N_1 = \{i : \langle i, i \rangle \in \text{the indices of } M \land M_{i,i} \neq 0_K\}$, then $\operatorname{rk}(M) = \overline{N_1}$.

For simplicity, we adopt the following rules: v, v_1, v_2, u denote vectors of the *n*-dimension vector space over K, t, t_1, t_2 denote elements of (the carrier of $K)^n$, L denotes a linear combination of the *n*-dimension vector space over K, and M, M_1 denote matrices over K of dimension $m \times n$.

We now state the proposition

- (102)(i) The carrier of the *n*-dimension vector space over K = (the carrier of $K)^n$,
 - (ii) $0_{\text{the }n\text{-dimension vector space over }K} = n \mapsto 0_K,$
 - (iii) if $t_1 = v_1$ and $t_2 = v_2$, then $t_1 + t_2 = v_1 + v_2$, and
 - (iv) if t = v, then $a \cdot t = a \cdot v$.

Let us consider K, n. Then the n-dimension vector space over K is a strict vector space over K.

Let us consider K, n. One can verify that every vector of the n-dimension vector space over K is function-like and relation-like.

Let us consider K, m, n and let M be a matrix over K of dimension $m \times n$. We introduce lines(M) as a synonym of rng M. We introduce M is without repeated line as a synonym of M is one-to-one.

Let K be a field, let us consider m, n, and let M be a matrix over K of dimension $m \times n$. Then lines(M) is a subset of the n-dimension vector space over K.

Next we state two propositions:

- (103) $x \in \text{lines}(M)$ iff there exists *i* such that $i \in \text{Seg } m$ and x = Line(M, i).
- (104) Let V be a finite subset of the n-dimension vector space over K. Then there exists a matrix M over K of dimension card $V \times n$ such that M is without repeated line and lines(M) = V.

Let us consider K, n and let F be a finite sequence of elements of the ndimension vector space over K. The functor FinS2MX F yielding a matrix over K of dimension len $F \times n$ is defined by:

(Def. 5) FinS2MX F = F.

Let us consider K, m, n and let M be a matrix over K of dimension $m \times n$. The functor MX2FinS M yielding a finite sequence of elements of the n-dimension vector space over K is defined as follows:

(Def. 6) MX2FinS M = M.

One can prove the following propositions:

- (105) If rk(M) = m, then M is without repeated line.
- (106) If $i \in \text{Seg len } M$ and a = L(M(i)), then Line(FinS2MX(L MX2FinS M), i) = $a \cdot \text{Line}(M, i)$.
- (107) If M is without repeated line and the support of $L \subseteq \text{lines}(M)$ and $i \in \text{Seg } n$, then $(\sum L)(i) = \sum ((\text{FinS2MX}(L \text{ MX2FinS } M))_{\Box,i}).$
- (108) Let given M, M_1 . Suppose M is without repeated line and for every i such that $i \in \text{Seg } m$ there exists a such that $\text{Line}(M_1, i) = a \cdot \text{Line}(M, i)$. Then there exists a linear combination L of lines(M) such that L MX2FinS $M = M_1$.
- (109) Let given M. Suppose M is without repeated line. Then for every i such that $i \in \text{Seg } m$ holds $\text{Line}(M, i) \neq n \mapsto 0_K$ and for every M_1 such that for every i such that $i \in \text{Seg } m$ there exists a such that $\text{Line}(M_1, i) = a \cdot \text{Line}(M, i)$ and for every j such that $j \in \text{Seg } n$ holds $\sum((M_1)_{\Box,j}) = (A \cap D)^{m \times n}$

$$0_K$$
 holds $M_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}_K$ if and only if lines (M) is linearly

independent.

- (110) If rk(M) = m, then lines(M) is linearly independent.
- (111) Let M be a diagonal n-dimensional matrix over K. Suppose rk(M) = n. Then lines(M) is a basis of the n-dimension vector space over K.

Let us consider K, n. Then the n-dimension vector space over K is a strict finite dimensional vector space over K.

The following propositions are true:

- (112) dim(the *n*-dimension vector space over K) = n.
- (113) Let given M, i, a. Suppose that for every j such that $j \in \text{Seg } m$ holds $M_{j,i} = a$. Then M is without repeated line if and only if $\text{Segm}(M, \text{Seg len } M, \text{Seg width } M \setminus \{i\})$ is without repeated line.
- (114) Let given M, i. Suppose M is without repeated line and lines(M) is linearly independent and for every j such that $j \in \text{Seg } m$ holds $M_{j,i} = 0_K$. Then lines $(\text{Segm}(M, \text{Seg len } M, \text{Seg width } M \setminus \{i\}))$ is linearly independent.

- (115) Let V be a vector space over K and U be a finite subset of V. Suppose U is linearly independent. Let u, v be vectors of V. If $u \in U$ and $v \in U$ and $u \neq v$, then $(U \setminus \{u\}) \cup \{u + a \cdot v\}$ is linearly independent.
- (116) Let V be a vector space over K and u, v be vectors of V. Then $x \in \text{Lin}(\{u, v\})$ if and only if there exist a, b such that $x = a \cdot u + b \cdot v$.
- (117) Let given M. Suppose lines(M) is linearly independent and M is without repeated line. Let given i, j. Suppose $j \in \text{Seg len } M$ and $i \neq j$. Then $\text{RLine}(M, i, \text{Line}(M, i) + a \cdot \text{Line}(M, j))$ is without repeated line and lines $(\text{RLine}(M, i, \text{Line}(M, i) + a \cdot \text{Line}(M, j)))$ is linearly independent.
- (118) If $P \subseteq \text{Seg } m$, then $\text{lines}(\text{Segm}(M, P, \text{Seg } n)) \subseteq \text{lines}(M)$.
- (119) If $P \subseteq \text{Seg } m$ and lines(M) is linearly independent, then lines(Segm(M, P, Seg n)) is linearly independent.
- (120) If $P \subseteq \text{Seg } m$ and M is without repeated line, then Segm(M, P, Seg n) is without repeated line.
- (121) Let M be a matrix over K of dimension $m \times n$. Then lines(M) is linearly independent and M is without repeated line if and only if rk(M) = m.
- (122) Let U be a subset of the n-dimension vector space over K. Suppose $U \subseteq \text{lines}(M)$. Then there exists P such that $P \subseteq \text{Seg } m$ and lines(Segm(M, P, Seg n)) = U and Segm(M, P, Seg n) is without repeated line.
- (123) Let R_1 be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then $\operatorname{rk}(M) = R_1$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) there exists a finite subset U of the n-dimension vector space over K such that U is linearly independent and $U \subseteq \text{lines}(M)$ and $\text{card } U = R_1$, and
 - (ii) for every finite subset W of the n-dimension vector space over K such that W is linearly independent and $W \subseteq \text{lines}(M)$ holds card $W \leq R_1$.

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. Cardinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):377–382, 1990.
- [2] Grzegorz Bancerek. The fundamental properties of natural numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):41-46, 1990.
- [3] Grzegorz Bancerek and Krzysztof Hryniewiecki. Segments of natural numbers and finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):107–114, 1990.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Binary operations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):175–180, 1990.
- [5] Czesław Byliński. Binary operations applied to finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):643–649, 1990.
- [6] Czesław Byliński. Finite sequences and tuples of elements of a non-empty sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):529–536, 1990.
- [7] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):55– 65, 1990.
- [8] Czesław Byliński. Functions from a set to a set. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):153–164, 1990: D. B. K. L. Theorem in the function of th
- [9] Czesław Byliński. The modification of a function by a function and the iteration of the composition of a function. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):521–527, 1990.

KAROL PĄK

- [10] Czesław Byliński. Some basic properties of sets. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):47–53, 1990.
- [11] Czesław Byliński. Some properties of restrictions of finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 5(2):241–245, 1996.
- [12] Agata Darmochwał. Finite sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):165–167, 1990.
- [13] Katarzyna Jankowska. Matrices. Abelian group of matrices. Formalized Mathematics, 2(4):475–480, 1991.
- [14] Katarzyna Jankowska. Transpose matrices and groups of permutations. Formalized Mathematics, 2(5):711–717, 1991.
- [15] Eugeniusz Kusak, Wojciech Leończuk, and Michał Muzalewski. Abelian groups, fields and vector spaces. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(2):335–342, 1990.
- [16] Rafał Kwiatek. Factorial and Newton coefficients. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(5):887–890, 1990.
- [17] Anna Lango and Grzegorz Bancerek. Product of families of groups and vector spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 3(2):235–240, 1992.
- [18] Yatsuka Nakamura. Determinant of some matrices of field elements. Formalized Mathematics, 14(1):1–5, 2006.
- [19] Takaya Nishiyama and Yasuho Mizuhara. Binary arithmetics. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):83–86, 1993.
- [20] Karol Pąk. Basic properties of determinants of square matrices over a field. Formalized Mathematics, 15(1):17–25, 2007.
- [21] Karol Pak and Andrzej Trybulec. Laplace expansion. Formalized Mathematics, 15(3):143– 150, 2007.
- [22] Yozo Toda. The formalization of simple graphs. Formalized Mathematics, 5(1):137–144, 1996.
- [23] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics. [24] Andrzej Trybulec. Binary operations applied to functions. Formalized Mathematics,
- 1(2):329–334, 1990.
- [25] Andrzej Trybulec. Domains and their Cartesian products. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):115–122, 1990.
- [26] Andrzej Trybulec. Function domains and Frænkel operator. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):495–500, 1990.
- [27] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [28] Andrzej Trybulec and Agata Darmochwał. Boolean domains. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):187–190, 1990.
- [29] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Basis of vector space. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(5):883–885, 1990.
- [30] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Binary operations on finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(5):979–981, 1990.
- [31] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Groups. Formalized Mathematics, 1(5):821-827, 1990.
- [32] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Linear combinations in vector space. Formalized Mathematics, 1(5):877–882, 1990.
- [33] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Non-contiguous substrings and one-to-one finite sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):569–573, 1990.
- [34] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Pigeon hole principle. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):575–579, 1990.
 [37] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Coherence on description of sub-principle. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):575–579, 1990.
- [35] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Subspaces and cosets of subspaces in vector space. Formalized Mathematics, 1(5):865–870, 1990.
- [36] Wojciech A. Trybulec. Vectors in real linear space. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):291– 296, 1990.
- [37] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [38] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.
- [39] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.
- [40] Xiaopeng Yue, Xiquan Liang, and Zhongpin Sun. Some properties of some special matrices. Formalized Mathematics, 13(4):541–547, 2005.
- [41] Katarzyna Zawadzka. The sum and product of finite sequences of elements of a field. Formalized Mathematics, 3(2):205–211, 1992.

210

- [42] Katarzyna Zawadzka. The product and the determinant of matrices with entries in a field. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):1–8, 1993.
- [43] Mariusz Żynel. The Steinitz theorem and the dimension of a vector space. Formalized Mathematics, 5(3):423–428, 1996.

Received August 28, 2007

Basic Operations on Preordered Coherent Spaces

Klaus E. Grue DIKU University of Copenhagen Universitetsparken 1 DK-2100 Copenhagen Denmark Artur Korniłowicz¹ Institute of Computer Science University of Białystok Sosnowa 64, 15-887 Białystok Poland

Summary. This Mizar paper presents the definition of a "Preordered Coherent Space" (PCS). Furthermore, the paper defines a number of operations on PCS's and states and proves a number of elementary lemmas about these operations. PCS's have many useful properties which could qualify them for mathematical study in their own right. PCS's were invented, however, to construct Scott domains, to solve domain equations, and to construct models of various versions of lambda calculus.

For more on PCS's, see [11]. The present Mizar paper defines the operations on PCS's used in Chapter 8 of [3].

MML identifier: PCS_0, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The articles [16], [20], [7], [17], [15], [21], [4], [6], [22], [23], [14], [1], [13], [5], [18], [9], [19], [12], [8], [2], and [10] provide the notation and terminology for this paper.

1. Preliminaries

Let R_1 , R_2 be sets and let R be a relation between R_1 and R_2 . Then field R is a subset of $R_1 \cup R_2$.

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

¹The author visited the Department of Computer Science, University of Copenhagen, while writing the article.

Let R_1 , R_2 , S_1 , S_2 be sets, let R be a relation between R_1 and R_2 , and let S be a relation between S_1 and S_2 . Then $R \cup S$ is a relation between $R_1 \cup S_1$ and $R_2 \cup S_2$.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a total binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a total binary relation on S_1 . Note that $R \cup S$ is total.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a reflexive binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a reflexive binary relation on S_1 . Observe that $R \cup S$ is reflexive.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a symmetric binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a symmetric binary relation on S_1 . Observe that $R \cup S$ is symmetric.

One can prove the following proposition

Let R₁, S₁ be sets, R be a transitive binary relation on R₁, and S be a transitive binary relation on S₁. If R₁ misses S₁, then R∪S is transitive. Let A be an empty set and let B be a set. One can check that Ø_{A,B} is total.

Let I be a non-empty set and let C be a 1-sorted yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Then the support of C can be characterized by the condition:

(Def. 1) For every element i of I holds (the support of C)(i) = the carrier of C(i).

Let R_1 , R_2 , S_1 , S_2 be sets, let R be a relation between R_1 and R_2 , and let S be a relation between S_1 and S_2 . The functor $[\hat{R}, S^{\hat{A}}]$ yields a relation between $[R_1, S_1]$ and $[R_2, S_2]$ and is defined by the condition (Def. 2).

(Def. 2) Let x, y be sets. Then $\langle x, y \rangle \in [\widehat{R}, S\widehat{}]$ if and only if there exist sets r_1 , s_1, r_2, s_2 such that $x = \langle r_1, s_1 \rangle$ and $y = \langle r_2, s_2 \rangle$ and $r_1 \in R_1$ and $s_1 \in S_1$ and $r_2 \in R_2$ and $s_2 \in S_2$ and $\langle r_1, r_2 \rangle \in R$ or $\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle \in S$.

Let R_1 , R_2 , S_1 , S_2 be non empty sets, let R be a relation between R_1 and R_2 , and let S be a relation between S_1 and S_2 . Then $[\hat{R}, S\hat{S}]$ can be characterized by the condition:

(Def. 3) Let r_1 be an element of R_1 , r_2 be an element of R_2 , s_1 be an element of S_1 , and s_2 be an element of S_2 . Then $\langle \langle r_1, s_1 \rangle, \langle r_2, s_2 \rangle \rangle \in [\hat{R}, S^{\hat{n}}]$ if and only if $\langle r_1, r_2 \rangle \in R$ or $\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle \in S$.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a total binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a total binary relation on S_1 . Note that $[\hat{R}, S^{\hat{A}}]$ is total.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a reflexive binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a reflexive binary relation on S_1 . One can check that $[\hat{R}, S^{\hat{A}}]$ is reflexive.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a total reflexive binary relation on S_1 . Observe that $[{}^{\hat{}}R, S^{\hat{}}]$ is reflexive.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a total reflexive binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a binary relation on S_1 . Observe that $[R, S^{-}]$ is reflexive.

Let R_1 , S_1 be sets, let R be a symmetric binary relation on R_1 , and let S be a symmetric binary relation on S_1 . Note that $[\hat{R}, S\hat{N}]$ is symmetric.

2. Relational Structures

Let us observe that every relational structure which is empty is also total.

Let R be a binary relation. We say that R is transitive-yielding if and only if:

(Def. 4) For every relational structure S such that $S \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds S is transitive. Let us note that every binary relation which is poset-yielding is also transitive-yielding.

Let us mention that there exists a function which is poset-yielding.

Let I be a set. Observe that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is poset-yielding.

Let I be a set and let C be a relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. The functor pcs-InternalRels C yields a many sorted set indexed by I and is defined by the condition (Def. 5).

(Def. 5) Let *i* be a set. Suppose $i \in I$. Then there exists a relational structure *P* such that P = C(i) and (pcs-InternalRels C)(i) = the internal relation of *P*.

Let I be a non empty set and let C be a relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Then pcs-InternalRels C can be characterized by the condition:

(Def. 6) For every element *i* of *I* holds (pcs-InternalRels C)(i) = the internal relation of C(i).

Let I be a set and let C be a relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. One can check that pcs-InternalRels C is binary relation yielding.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a transitive-yielding relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Note that C(i) is transitive.

3. Tolerance Structures

We introduce alternative relational structures which are extensions of 1sorted structure and are systems

 \langle a carrier, an alternative relation \rangle ,

where the carrier is a set and the alternative relation is a binary relation on the carrier.

Let P be an alternative relational structure and let p, q be elements of P. The predicate $p \sim q$ is defined by:

(Def. 7) $\langle p, q \rangle \in$ the alternative relation of P.

Let P be an alternative relational structure. We say that P is β -total if and only if:

(Def. 8) The alternative relation of P is total.

We say that P is β -reflexive if and only if:

- (Def. 9) The alternative relation of P is reflexive in the carrier of P. We say that P is β -irreflexive if and only if:
- (Def. 10) The alternative relation of P is irreflexive in the carrier of P. We say that P is β -symmetric if and only if:
- (Def. 11) The alternative relation of P is symmetric in the carrier of P. The alternative relational structure emptyTolStr is defined as follows:
- (Def. 12) emptyTolStr = $\langle \emptyset, \emptyset_{\emptyset,\emptyset} \rangle$.

One can check that emptyTolStr is empty and strict.

The following proposition is true

(2) Let P be an alternative relational structure. If P is empty, then the alternative relational structure of P = emptyTolStr.

One can check that every alternative relational structure which is β -reflexive is also β -total.

Let us note that every alternative relational structure which is empty is also β -reflexive, β -irreflexive, and β -symmetric.

Let us note that there exists an alternative relational structure which is empty.

Let P be a β -total alternative relational structure. Observe that the alternative relation of P is total.

Let P be a β -reflexive alternative relational structure. One can check that the alternative relation of P is reflexive.

Let P be a β -irreflexive alternative relational structure. One can verify that the alternative relation of P is irreflexive.

Let P be a β -symmetric alternative relational structure. One can verify that the alternative relation of P is symmetric.

Let L be a β -total alternative relational structure. Note that the alternative relational structure of L is β -total.

Let P be a β -symmetric alternative relational structure and let p, q be elements of P. Let us note that the predicate $p \sim q$ is symmetric.

Let D be a set. Note that $\langle D, \nabla_D \rangle$ is β -reflexive and β -symmetric.

Let D be a set. Note that $\langle D, \emptyset_{D,D} \rangle$ is β -irreflexive and β -symmetric.

Let us note that there exists an alternative relational structure which is strict, non empty, β -reflexive, and β -symmetric.

One can check that there exists an alternative relational structure which is strict, non empty, β -irreflexive, and β -symmetric.

Let R be a binary relation. We say that R is alternative relational structure yielding if and only if:

(Def. 13) For every set P such that $P \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds P is an alternative relational structure.

Let f be a function. Let us observe that f is alternative relational structure yielding if and only if:

(Def. 14) For every set x such that $x \in \text{dom } f$ holds f(x) is an alternative relational structure.

Let I be a set and let f be a many sorted set indexed by I. Let us observe that f is alternative relational structure yielding if and only if:

(Def. 15) For every set x such that $x \in I$ holds f(x) is an alternative relational structure.

Let R be a binary relation. We say that R is β -reflexive yielding if and only if:

(Def. 16) For every alternative relational structure S such that $S \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds S is β -reflexive.

We say that R is β -irreflexive yielding if and only if:

(Def. 17) For every alternative relational structure S such that $S \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds S is β -irreflexive.

We say that R is β -symmetric yielding if and only if:

(Def. 18) For every alternative relational structure S such that $S \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds S is β -symmetric.

One can check that every binary relation which is empty is also β -reflexive yielding, β -irreflexive yielding, and β -symmetric yielding.

Let I be a set and let P be an alternative relational structure. Note that $I \mapsto P$ is alternative relational structure yielding.

Let I be a set and let P be a β -reflexive alternative relational structure. Observe that $I \longmapsto P$ is β -reflexive yielding.

Let I be a set and let P be a β -irreflexive alternative relational structure. One can check that $I \longmapsto P$ is β -irreflexive yielding.

Let I be a set and let P be a β -symmetric alternative relational structure. One can verify that $I \longmapsto P$ is β -symmetric yielding.

Let us observe that every function which is alternative relational structure yielding is also 1-sorted yielding.

Let I be a set. Observe that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is β -reflexive yielding, β -symmetric yielding, and alternative relational structure yielding.

Let I be a set. Note that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is β -irreflexive yielding, β -symmetric yielding, and alternative relational structure yielding.

Let I be a set. Observe that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is alternative relational structure yielding.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be an alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Then C(i) is an alternative relational structure.

Let I be a set and let C be an alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. The functor pcs-ToleranceRels C yields a many sorted set indexed by I and is defined by the condition (Def. 19).

(Def. 19) Let *i* be a set. Suppose $i \in I$. Then there exists an alternative relational structure *P* such that P = C(i) and (pcs-ToleranceRels C)(i) = the alternative relation of P.

Let I be a non empty set and let C be an alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Then pcs-ToleranceRels C can be characterized by the condition:

(Def. 20) For every element *i* of *I* holds (pcs-ToleranceRels C)(*i*) = the alternative relation of C(i).

Let I be a set and let C be an alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Note that pcs-ToleranceRels C is binary relation yielding.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a β -reflexive yielding alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. One can verify that C(i) is β -reflexive.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a β -irreflexive yielding alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Note that C(i) is β -irreflexive.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a β -symmetric yielding alternative relational structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Observe that C(i) is β -symmetric.

The following propositions are true:

- (3) Let P, Q be alternative relational structures. Suppose that
- (i) the alternative relational structure of P = the alternative relational structure of Q, and
- (ii) P is β -reflexive.

Then Q is β -reflexive.

- (4) Let P, Q be alternative relational structures. Suppose that
- (i) the alternative relational structure of P = the alternative relational structure of Q, and
- (ii) P is β -irreflexive.

Then Q is β -irreflexive.

- (5) Let P, Q be alternative relational structures. Suppose that
- (i) the alternative relational structure of P = the alternative relational structure of Q, and
- (ii) P is β -symmetric.

Then Q is β -symmetric.

Let P, Q be alternative relational structures. The functor $[^{P}, Q^{}]$ yields an alternative relational structure and is defined by the condition (Def. 21).

(Def. 21) $[^{P}, Q^{\hat{}}] = \langle [\text{ the carrier of } P, \text{ the carrier of } Q], [^{the alternative relation of } P, \text{ the alternative relation of } Q^{\hat{}}] \rangle.$

Let P, Q be alternative relational structures, let p be an element of P, and let q be an element of Q. We introduce $[\hat{p}, q^{\hat{}}]$ as a synonym of $\langle p, q \rangle$.

Let P, Q be non empty alternative relational structures, let p be an element of P, and let q be an element of Q. Then $[\hat{p}, q^{\hat{}}]$ is an element of $[\hat{P}, Q^{\hat{}}]$.

Let P, Q be alternative relational structures and let p be an element of $[\hat{P}, Q\hat{P}]$. We introduce $p\hat{P}_1$ as a synonym of p_1 . We introduce $p\hat{P}_2$ as a synonym of p_2 .

Let P, Q be non empty alternative relational structures and let p be an element of $[^{P}, Q^{2}]$. Then p'1 is an element of P. Then p'2 is an element of Q. We now state two propositions:

- (6) Let S₁, S₂ be non empty alternative relational structures, a, c be elements of S₁, and b, d be elements of S₂. Then [[^]a, b[^]] ~ [[^]c, d[^]] if and only if a ~ c or b ~ d.
- (7) Let S_1 , S_2 be non empty alternative relational structures and x, y be elements of $[S_1, S_2]$. Then $x \sim y$ if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:
- (i) $x' 1 \sim y' 1$, or
- (ii) $x'^2 \sim y'^2$.

Let P be an alternative relational structure and let Q be a β -reflexive alternative relational structure. Note that $[^{P}, Q^{\uparrow}]$ is β -reflexive.

Let P be a β -reflexive alternative relational structure and let Q be an alternative relational structure. Observe that $[^{P}, Q^{\uparrow}]$ is β -reflexive.

Let P, Q be β -symmetric alternative relational structures. One can check that $[^{P}, Q^{\uparrow}]$ is β -symmetric.

4. PCS's

We introduce pcs structures which are extensions of relational structure and alternative relational structure and are systems

 \langle a carrier, an internal relation, an alternative relation \rangle ,

where the carrier is a set, the internal relation is a binary relation on the carrier, and the alternative relation is a binary relation on the carrier.

Let P be a pcs structure. We say that P is compatible if and only if:

(Def. 22) For all elements p, p', q, q' of P such that $p \sim q$ and $p' \leq p$ and $q' \leq q$ holds $p' \sim q'$.

Let P be a pcs structure. We say that P is pcs-like if and only if:

- (Def. 23) P is reflexive, transitive, β -reflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible. We say that P is anti-pcs-like if and only if:
- (Def. 24) P is reflexive, transitive, β -irreflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible. One can verify the following observations:
 - * every pcs structure which is pcs-like is also reflexive, transitive, β -reflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible,
 - * every pcs structure which is reflexive, transitive, β -reflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible is also pcs-like,
 - * every pcs structure which is anti-pcs-like is also reflexive, transitive, β irreflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible, and
 - * every pcs structure which is reflexive, transitive, β -irreflexive, β -irreflexive, β -symmetric, and compatible is also anti-pcs-like.

Let D be a set. The functor TotalPCS D yields a pcs structure and is defined as follows:

(Def. 25) TotalPCS $D = \langle D, \nabla_D, \nabla_D \rangle$.

Let D be a set. Observe that TotalPCS D is strict.

Let D be a non empty set. One can verify that TotalPCS D is non empty.

Let D be a set. One can check that TotalPCS D is reflexive, transitive, β -reflexive, and β -symmetric.

Let D be a set. Note that TotalPCS D is pcs-like.

Let D be a set. One can verify that $\langle D, \nabla_D, \emptyset_{D,D} \rangle$ is anti-pcs-like.

One can verify that there exists a pcs structure which is strict, non empty, and pcs-like and there exists a pcs structure which is strict, non empty, and anti-pcs-like.

A pcs is a pcs-like pcs structure. An anti-pcs is an anti-pcs-like pcs structure. The pcs structure EmptyPCS is defined by:

(Def. 26) EmptyPCS = TotalPCS 0.

Let us mention that EmptyPCS is strict, empty, and pcs-like.

Let p be a set. The functor SingletonPCS p yielding a pcs structure is defined by:

(Def. 27) SingletonPCS $p = \text{TotalPCS}\{p\}$.

Let p be a set. Observe that $\operatorname{SingletonPCS} p$ is strict, non empty, and pcs-like.

Let R be a binary relation. We say that R is pcs structure yielding if and only if:

(Def. 28) For every set P such that $P \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds P is a pcs structure.

We say that R is pcs-yielding if and only if:

(Def. 29) For every set P such that $P \in \operatorname{rng} R$ holds P is a pcs.

Let f be a function. Let us observe that f is pcs structure yielding if and only if:

- (Def. 30) For every set x such that $x \in \text{dom } f$ holds f(x) is a pcs structure. Let us observe that f is pcs-yielding if and only if:
- (Def. 31) For every set x such that $x \in \text{dom } f$ holds f(x) is a pcs.

Let I be a set and let f be a many sorted set indexed by I. Let us observe that f is pcs structure yielding if and only if:

(Def. 32) For every set x such that $x \in I$ holds f(x) is a pcs structure.

Let us observe that f is pcs-yielding if and only if:

(Def. 33) For every set x such that $x \in I$ holds f(x) is a pcs.

One can verify the following observations:

- * every binary relation which is pcs structure yielding is also alternative relational structure yielding and relational structure yielding,
- $\ast~$ every binary relation which is pcs-yielding is also pcs structure yielding, and
- * every binary relation which is pcs-yielding is also reflexive-yielding, transitive-yielding, β -reflexive yielding, and β -symmetric yielding.

Let I be a set and let P be a pcs. Note that $I \mapsto P$ is pcs-yielding.

Let I be a set. Observe that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is pcs-yielding.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Then C(i) is a pcs structure.

Let I be a non empty set, let C be a pcs-yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and let i be an element of I. Then C(i) is a pcs.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. The predicate $P \subseteq Q$ is defined by the conditions (Def. 34).

(Def. 34)(i) The carrier of $P \subseteq$ the carrier of Q,

- (ii) the internal relation of $P \subseteq$ the internal relation of Q, and
- (iii) the alternative relation of $P \subseteq$ the alternative relation of Q.

Let us note that the predicate $P \subseteq Q$ is reflexive.

Next we state two propositions:

- (8) Let P, Q be relational structures, p, q be elements of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of Q. Suppose the internal relation of $P \subseteq$ the internal relation of Q and $p = p_1$ and $q = q_1$ and $p \leq q$. Then $p_1 \leq q_1$.
- (9) Let P, Q be pcs structures, p, q be elements of P, and p₁, q₁ be elements of Q. Suppose the alternative relation of P ⊆ the alternative relation of Q and p = p₁ and q = q₁ and p ~ q. Then p₁ ~ q₁.

Let C be a binary relation. We say that C is chain-like if and only if:

(Def. 35) For all pcs structures P, Q such that $P \in \operatorname{rng} C$ and $Q \in \operatorname{rng} C$ holds $P \subseteq Q$ or $Q \subseteq P$.

Let I be a set and let P be a pcs structure. Observe that $I \longmapsto P$ is chain-like.

Let us note that there exists a function which is chain-like and pcs-yielding. Let I be a set. Note that there exists a many sorted set indexed by I which is chain-like and pcs-yielding.

Let I be a set. A pcs-chain of I is a chain-like pcs-yielding many sorted set indexed by I.

Let I be a set and let C be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. The functor $\bigcup C$ yielding a strict pcs structure is defined by the conditions (Def. 36).

(Def. 36)(i) The carrier of $\bigcup C = \bigcup$ (the support of C),

- (ii) the internal relation of $\bigcup C = \bigcup \text{pcs-InternalRels } C$, and
- (iii) the alternative relation of $\bigcup C = \bigcup \text{pcs-ToleranceRels } C$.

We now state four propositions:

- (10) Let I be a set, C be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and p, q be elements of $\bigcup C$. Then $p \leq q$ if and only if there exists a set i and there exists a pcs structure P and there exist elements p', q' of P such that $i \in I$ and P = C(i) and p' = p and q' = q and $p' \leq q'$.
- (11) Let *I* be a non empty set, *C* be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by *I*, and *p*, *q* be elements of $\bigcup C$. Then $p \leq q$ if and only if there exists an element *i* of *I* and there exist elements p', q' of C(i) such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \leq q'$.
- (12) Let I be a set, C be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and p, q be elements of $\bigcup C$. Then $p \sim q$ if and only if there exists a set i and there exists a pcs structure P and there exist elements p', q' of P such that $i \in I$ and P = C(i) and p' = p and q' = q and $p' \sim q'$.
- (13) Let I be a non empty set, C be a pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I, and p, q be elements of $\bigcup C$. Then $p \sim q$ if and only if there exists an element i of I and there exist elements p', q' of C(i) such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \sim q'$.

Let I be a set and let C be a reflexive-yielding pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Observe that $\bigcup C$ is reflexive.

Let I be a set and let C be a β -reflexive yielding pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Observe that $\bigcup C$ is β -reflexive.

Let I be a set and let C be a β -symmetric yielding pcs structure yielding many sorted set indexed by I. Note that $\bigcup C$ is β -symmetric.

Let I be a set and let C be a pcs-chain of I. One can check that $\bigcup C$ is transitive and compatible.

Let p, q be sets. The functor MSSet(p, q) yielding a many sorted set indexed by $\{0, 1\}$ is defined by:

(Def. 37) $\operatorname{MSSet}(p,q) = [0 \longmapsto p, 1 \longmapsto q].$

Let P, Q be 1-sorted structures. One can check that $\mathrm{MSSet}(P,Q)$ is 1-sorted yielding.

Let P, Q be relational structures. Observe that MSSet(P, Q) is relational structure yielding.

Let P, Q be alternative relational structures. Observe that MSSet(P,Q) is alternative relational structure yielding.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. Note that MSSet(P, Q) is pcs structure yielding.

Let P, Q be reflexive pcs structures. Observe that MSSet(P, Q) is reflexive-yielding.

Let P, Q be transitive pcs structures. One can check that MSSet(P, Q) is transitive-yielding.

Let P, Q be β -reflexive pcs structures. Note that MSSet(P, Q) is β -reflexive yielding.

Let P, Q be β -symmetric pcs structures. Observe that MSSet(P,Q) is β -symmetric yielding.

Let P, Q be pcs's. Observe that MSSet(P, Q) is pcs-yielding.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. The functor $P \oplus Q$ yielding a pcs structure is defined by:

(Def. 38) $P \oplus Q = \bigcup MSSet(P, Q).$

One can prove the following four propositions:

- (14) Let P, Q be pcs structures. Then
 - (i) the carrier of $P \oplus Q =$ (the carrier of $P) \cup$ (the carrier of Q),
 - (ii) the internal relation of $P \oplus Q =$ (the internal relation of $P) \cup$ (the internal relation of Q), and
- (iii) the alternative relation of $P \oplus Q =$ (the alternative relation of $P) \cup$ (the alternative relation of Q).
- (15) Let P, Q be pcs structures. Then $P \oplus Q = \langle (\text{the carrier of } P) \cup (\text{the carrier of } Q), (\text{the internal relation of } P) \cup (\text{the internal relation of } Q), (\text{the alternative relation of } P) \cup (\text{the alternative relation of } Q) \rangle.$
- (16) Let P, Q be pcs structures and p, q be elements of $P \oplus Q$. Then $p \leq q$ if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:
 - (i) there exist elements p', q' of P such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \le q'$, or
 - (ii) there exist elements p', q' of Q such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \le q'$.
- (17) Let P, Q be pcs structures and p, q be elements of $P \oplus Q$. Then $p \sim q$ if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:
 - (i) there exist elements p', q' of P such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \sim q'$, or

- (ii) there exist elements p', q' of Q such that p' = p and q' = q and $p' \sim q'$.
- Let P, Q be reflexive pcs structures. Observe that $P \oplus Q$ is reflexive.

Let P, Q be β -reflexive pcs structures. One can verify that $P \oplus Q$ is β -reflexive.

Let P, Q be β -symmetric pcs structures. Observe that $P \oplus Q$ is β -symmetric. The following three propositions are true:

- (18) For all pcs's P, Q such that P misses Q holds the internal relation of $P \oplus Q$ is transitive.
- (19) For all pcs's P, Q such that P misses Q holds $P \oplus Q$ is compatible.
- (20) For all pcs's P, Q such that P misses Q holds $P \oplus Q$ is a pcs.

Let P be a pcs structure and let a be a set. The functor P_a yields a strict pcs structure and is defined by the conditions (Def. 39).

- (Def. 39)(i) The carrier of $P_a = \{a\} \cup$ the carrier of P,
 - (ii) the internal relation of $P_a = [\{a\}, \text{ the carrier of } P_a] \cup \text{the internal relation of } P$, and
 - (iii) the alternative relation of $P_a = [\{a\}, \text{ the carrier of } P_a] \cup [\text{ the carrier of } P_a, \{a\}] \cup \text{ the alternative relation of } P.$

Let P be a pcs structure and let a be a set. Observe that P_a is non empty. The following propositions are true:

- (21) Let P be a pcs structure and a be a set. Then
 - (i) the carrier of $P \subseteq$ the carrier of P_a ,
- (ii) the internal relation of $P \subseteq$ the internal relation of P_a , and
- (iii) the alternative relation of $P \subseteq$ the alternative relation of P_a .
- (22) For every pcs structure P and for every set a and for all elements p, q of P_a such that p = a holds $p \le q$.
- (23) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, p, q be elements of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of P_a . If $p = p_1$ and $q = q_1$ and $p \le q$, then $p_1 \le q_1$.
- (24) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, p be an element of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of P_a . Suppose $p = p_1$ and $p \neq a$ and $p_1 \leq q_1$ and $a \notin$ the carrier of P. Then $q_1 \in$ the carrier of P and $q_1 \neq a$.
- (25) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, and p be an element of P_a . If $p \neq a$, then $p \in$ the carrier of P.
- (26) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, p, q be elements of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of P_a . If $p = p_1$ and $q = q_1$ and $p \neq a$ and $p_1 \leq q_1$, then $p \leq q$.
- (27) For every pcs structure P and for every set a and for all elements p, q of P_a such that p = a holds $p \sim q$ and $q \sim p$.
- (28) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, p, q be elements of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of P_a . If $p = p_1$ and $q = q_1$ and $p \sim q$, then $p_1 \sim q_1$.

(29) Let P be a pcs structure, a be a set, p, q be elements of P, and p_1 , q_1 be elements of P_a . If $p = p_1$ and $q = q_1$ and $p \neq a$ and $q \neq a$ and $p_1 \sim q_1$, then $p \sim q$.

Let P be a reflexive pcs structure and let a be a set. Observe that P_a is reflexive.

The following proposition is true

(30) For every transitive pcs structure P and for every set a such that $a \notin$ the carrier of P holds P_a is transitive.

Let P be a β -reflexive pcs structure and let a be a set. One can verify that P_a is β -reflexive.

Let P be a β -symmetric pcs structure and let a be a set. One can check that P_a is β -symmetric.

Next we state two propositions:

- (31) For every compatible pcs structure P and for every set a such that $a \notin$ the carrier of P holds P_a is compatible.
- (32) For every pcs P and for every set a such that $a \notin$ the carrier of P holds P_a is a pcs.

Let P be a pcs structure. The functor $\uparrow P$ yields a strict pcs structure and is defined by the conditions (Def. 40).

- (Def. 40)(i) The carrier of $\uparrow P$ = the carrier of P,
 - (ii) the internal relation of $\uparrow P = (\text{the internal relation of } P)^{\smile}$, and
 - (iii) the alternative relation of $\uparrow P = (\text{the alternative relation of } P)^c$.

Let P be a non empty pcs structure. One can check that $\uparrow P$ is non empty. Next we state three propositions:

- (33) Let P be a pcs structure, p, q be elements of P, and p', q' be elements of $\uparrow P$. If p = p' and q = q', then $p \le q$ iff $q' \le p'$.
- (34) Let P be a pcs structure, p, q be elements of P, and p', q' be elements of $\uparrow P$. If p = p' and q = q', then if $p \sim q$, then $p' \not\sim q'$.
- (35) Let P be a non empty pcs structure, p, q be elements of P, and p', q' be elements of $\uparrow P$. If p = p' and q = q', then if $p' \not\sim q'$, then $p \sim q$.
 - Let P be a reflexive pcs structure. One can check that $\uparrow P$ is reflexive.
 - Let P be a transitive pcs structure. Observe that $\uparrow P$ is transitive.
 - Let P be a β -reflexive pcs structure. One can verify that $\uparrow P$ is β -irreflexive.
- Let P be a β -irreflexive pcs structure. One can check that $\uparrow P$ is β -reflexive. Let P be a β -symmetric pcs structure. One can verify that $\uparrow P$ is β -symmetric.

Let P be a compatible pcs structure. Note that $\uparrow P$ is compatible.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. The functor $P \otimes Q$ yielding a pcs structure is defined by the condition (Def. 41).

(Def. 41) $P \otimes Q = \langle [\text{the carrier of } P, \text{ the carrier of } Q], (\text{the internal relation of } P) \times (\text{the internal relation of } Q), [^the alternative relation of } P, \text{ the alternative relation of } Q^{}] \rangle.$

Let P, Q be pcs structures. One can check that $P \otimes Q$ is strict.

Let P, Q be non empty pcs structures. Note that $P \otimes Q$ is non empty. One can prove the following propositions:

- (36) Let P, Q be pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \otimes Q, p_1, p_2$ be elements of P, and q_1, q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then $p \leq q$ iff $p_1 \leq p_2$ and $q_1 \leq q_2$.
- (37) Let P, Q be pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \otimes Q, p_1, p_2$ be elements of P, and q_1, q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then if $p \sim q$, then $p_1 \sim p_2$ or $q_1 \sim q_2$.
- (38) Let P, Q be non empty pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \otimes Q, p_1, p_2$ be elements of P, and q_1, q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then if $p_1 \sim p_2$ or $q_1 \sim q_2$, then $p \sim q$.

Let P, Q be reflexive pcs structures. Observe that $P \otimes Q$ is reflexive.

Let P, Q be transitive pcs structures. One can check that $P \otimes Q$ is transitive. Let P be a pcs structure and let Q be a β -reflexive pcs structure. One can check that $P \otimes Q$ is β -reflexive.

Let P be a β -reflexive pcs structure and let Q be a pcs structure. One can check that $P \otimes Q$ is β -reflexive.

Let P, Q be β -symmetric pcs structures. One can verify that $P \otimes Q$ is β -symmetric.

Let P, Q be compatible pcs structures. Observe that $P \otimes Q$ is compatible.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. The functor $P \mapsto Q$ yielding a pcs structure is defined as follows:

(Def. 42) $P \longmapsto Q = \uparrow P \otimes Q$.

Let P, Q be pcs structures. One can check that $P \longmapsto Q$ is strict.

Let P, Q be non empty pcs structures. Note that $P \longmapsto Q$ is non empty. Next we state three propositions:

- (39) Let P, Q be pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \mapsto Q, p_1, p_2$ be elements of P, and q_1, q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then $p \leq q$ iff $p_2 \leq p_1$ and $q_1 \leq q_2$.
- (40) Let P, Q be pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \mapsto Q$, p_1 , p_2 be elements of P, and q_1 , q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then if $p \sim q$, then $p_1 \not\sim p_2$ or $q_1 \sim q_2$.
- (41) Let P, Q be non empty pcs structures, p, q be elements of $P \mapsto Q$, p_1, p_2 be elements of P, and q_1, q_2 be elements of Q. If $p = \langle p_1, q_1 \rangle$ and $q = \langle p_2, q_2 \rangle$, then if $p_1 \not\sim p_2$ or $q_1 \sim q_2$, then $p \sim q$.

Let P, Q be reflexive pcs structures. One can check that $P \longmapsto Q$ is reflexive.

Let P, Q be transitive pcs structures. Observe that $P \mapsto Q$ is transitive.

Let P be a pcs structure and let Q be a β -reflexive pcs structure. Note that $P \longmapsto Q$ is β -reflexive.

Let P be a β -irreflexive pcs structure and let Q be a pcs structure. One can verify that $P \longmapsto Q$ is β -reflexive.

Let P, Q be β -symmetric pcs structures. Note that $P \longmapsto Q$ is β -symmetric.

Let P, Q be compatible pcs structures. Note that $P \mapsto Q$ is compatible.

Let P, Q be pcs's. Note that $P \mapsto Q$ is pcs-like.

Let P be a pcs structure and let S be a subset of P. We say that S is self-coherent if and only if:

(Def. 43) For all elements x, y of P such that $x \in S$ and $y \in S$ holds $x \sim y$.

Let P be a pcs structure. Observe that every subset of P which is empty is also self-coherent.

Let P be a pcs structure. One can check that there exists a subset of P which is empty.

Let P be a pcs structure and let F be a family of subsets of P. We say that F is self-coherent-membered if and only if:

(Def. 44) For every subset S of P such that $S \in F$ holds S is self-coherent.

Let P be a pcs structure. Observe that there exists a family of subsets of P which is non empty and self-coherent-membered.

Let P be a pcs structure and let D be a set. The functor $\mathcal{P}_{IR}(P, D)$ yields a binary relation on D and is defined by the condition (Def. 45).

- (Def. 45) Let A, B be sets. Then $\langle A, B \rangle \in \mathcal{P}_{IR}(P, D)$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) $A \in D$,
 - (ii) $B \in D$, and
 - (iii) for every set a such that $a \in A$ there exists a set b such that $b \in B$ and $\langle a, b \rangle \in$ the internal relation of P.

The functor $\mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{TR}}(P, D)$ yielding a binary relation on D is defined by the condition (Def. 46).

- (Def. 46) Let A, B be sets. Then $\langle A, B \rangle \in \mathcal{P}_{TR}(P, D)$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) $A \in D$,
 - (ii) $B \in D$, and
 - (iii) for all sets a, b such that $a \in A$ and $b \in B$ holds $\langle a, b \rangle \in$ the alternative relation of P.

Next we state two propositions:

(42) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a family of subsets of P, and A, B be sets. Then $\langle A, B \rangle \in \mathcal{P}_{\text{IR}}(P, D)$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) $A \in D$,
- (ii) $B \in D$, and
- (iii) for every element a of P such that $a \in A$ there exists an element b of P such that $b \in B$ and $a \leq b$.
- (43) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a family of subsets of P, and A, B be sets. Then $\langle A, B \rangle \in \mathcal{P}_{TR}(P, D)$ if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:
 - (i) $A \in D$,
 - (ii) $B \in D$, and
- (iii) for all elements a, b of P such that $a \in A$ and $b \in B$ holds $a \sim b$.

Let P be a pcs structure and let D be a set. The functor $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$ yielding a pcs structure is defined by:

(Def. 47) $\mathcal{P}(P,D) = \langle D, \mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{IR}}(P,D), \mathcal{P}_{\mathrm{TR}}(P,D) \rangle.$

Let P be a pcs structure and let D be a family of subsets of P. We introduce $\mathcal{P}(D)$ as a synonym of $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$.

Let P be a pcs structure and let D be a non empty set. Observe that $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$ is non empty.

Next we state four propositions:

- (44) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a set, and p, q be elements of $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$. Suppose $p \leq q$. Let p' be an element of P. If $p' \in p$, then there exists an element q' of P such that $q' \in q$ and $p' \leq q'$.
- (45) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a non empty family of subsets of P, and p, q be elements of $\mathcal{P}(D)$. Suppose that for every element p' of P such that $p' \in p$ there exists an element q' of P such that $q' \in q$ and $p' \leq q'$. Then $p \leq q$.
- (46) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a set, and p, q be elements of $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$. Suppose $p \sim q$. Let p', q' be elements of P. If $p' \in p$ and $q' \in q$, then $p' \sim q'$.
- (47) Let P be a pcs structure, D be a non empty family of subsets of P, and p, q be elements of $\mathcal{P}(D)$. Suppose that for all elements p', q' of P such that $p' \in p$ and $q' \in q$ holds $p' \sim q'$. Then $p \sim q$.

Let P be a pcs structure and let D be a set. One can check that $\mathcal{P}(P, D)$ is strict.

Let P be a reflexive pcs structure and let D be a family of subsets of P. Note that $\mathcal{P}(D)$ is reflexive.

Let P be a transitive pcs structure and let D be a set. One can check that $\mathcal{P}(P,D)$ is transitive.

Let P be a β -reflexive pcs structure and let D be a self-coherent-membered family of subsets of P. One can check that $\mathcal{P}(D)$ is β -reflexive.

Let P be a β -symmetric pcs structure and let D be a family of subsets of P. Observe that $\mathcal{P}(D)$ is β -symmetric.

Let P be a compatible pcs structure and let D be a family of subsets of P. Note that $\mathcal{P}(D)$ is compatible.

Let P be a pcs structure. The functor pcs-coherent-power P yields a set and is defined as follows:

(Def. 48) pcs-coherent-power $P = \{X; X \text{ ranges over subsets of } P: X \text{ is self-coherent}\}.$

We now state the proposition

(48) For every pcs structure P and for every set X such that $X \in$ pcs-coherent-power P holds X is a self-coherent subset of P.

Let P be a pcs structure. Note that pcs-coherent-power P is non empty.

Let P be a pcs structure. Then pcs-coherent-power P is a family of subsets of P.

Let P be a pcs structure. Observe that pcs-coherent-power P is self-coherent-membered.

Let P be a pcs structure. The functor $\mathcal{P}(P)$ yielding a pcs structure is defined by:

(Def. 49) $\mathcal{P}(P) = \mathcal{P}(\text{pcs-coherent-power } P).$

- Let P be a pcs structure. Note that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is strict.
- Let P be a pcs structure. Note that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is non empty.
- Let P be a reflexive pcs structure. One can verify that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is reflexive.
- Let P be a transitive pcs structure. One can check that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is transitive.
- Let P be a β -reflexive pcs structure. Note that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is β -reflexive.
- Let P be a β -symmetric pcs structure. Note that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is β -symmetric.
- Let P be a compatible pcs structure. Note that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is compatible.
- Let P be a pcs. Observe that $\mathcal{P}(P)$ is pcs-like.

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. König's theorem. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):589–593, 1990.
- [2] Grzegorz Bancerek. The "way-below" relation. Formalized Mathematics, 6(1):169–176, 1997.
- [3] Chantal Berline and Klaus Grue. A kappa-denotational semantics for map theory in ZFC + SI. Theoretical Computer Science, 179(1-2):137–202, 1997.
- [4] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):55–65, 1990.
- [5] Czesław Byliński. The modification of a function by a function and the iteration of the composition of a function. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(3):521–527, 1990.
- [6] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- [7] Czesław Byliński. Some basic properties of sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):47–53, 1990.
- [8] Adam Grabowski and Robert Milewski. Boolean posets, posets under inclusion and products of relational structures. *Formalized Mathematics*, 6(1):117–121, 1997.
- [9] Zbigniew Karno. Separated and weakly separated subspaces of topological spaces. Formalized Mathematics, 2(5):665–674, 1991.

- [10] Artur Korniłowicz. Cartesian products of relations and relational structures. Formalized Mathematics, 6(1):145–152, 1997.
- [11] J.L. Krivine. Lambda-calculus, types and models. Ellis & Horwood, 1993.
- [12] Beata Madras. Product of family of universal algebras. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):103–108, 1993.
- [13] Markus Moschner. Basic notions and properties of orthoposets. Formalized Mathematics, 11(2):201–210, 2003.
- [14] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Equivalence relations and classes of abstraction. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):441–444, 1990.
- [15] Andrzej Trybulec. Domains and their Cartesian products. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):115-122, 1990.
- [16] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11, 1990.
- [17] Andrzej Trybulec. Tuples, projections and Cartesian products. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):97–105, 1990.
- [18] Andrzej Trybulec. Many-sorted sets. Formalized Mathematics, 4(1):15–22, 1993.
- [19] Wojciech A. Trybulec and Grzegorz Bancerek. Kuratowski Zorn lemma. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):387–393, 1990.
- [20] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [21] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73–83, 1990.
- [22] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990.
- [23] Edmund Woronowicz and Anna Zalewska. Properties of binary relations. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):85–89, 1990.

Received August 28, 2007

Inferior Limit, Superior Limit and Convergence of Sequences of Extended Real Numbers

Hiroshi Yamazaki Shinshu University Nagano, Japan Noboru Endou Gifu National College of Technology Japan

Yasunari Shidama Shinshu University Nagano, Japan Hiroyuki Okazaki Shinshu University Nagano, Japan

Summary. In this article, we extended properties of sequences of real numbers to sequences of extended real numbers. We also introduced basic properties of the inferior limit, superior limit and convergence of sequences of extended real numbers.

MML identifier: RINFSUP2, version: 7.8.05 4.87.985

The notation and terminology used in this paper are introduced in the following articles: [18], [19], [1], [17], [20], [5], [21], [6], [7], [16], [2], [3], [8], [15], [13], [14], [12], [11], [22], [4], [10], and [9].

We adopt the following convention: n, m, k are elements of \mathbb{N} , X is a non empty subset of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$, and Y is a non empty subset of \mathbb{R} .

Next we state four propositions:

- (1) If X = Y and Y is upper bounded, then X is upper bounded and $\sup X = \sup Y$.
- (2) If X = Y and X is upper bounded, then Y is upper bounded and $\sup X = \sup Y$.
- (3) If X = Y and Y is lower bounded, then X is lower bounded and $\inf X = \inf Y$.
- (4) If X = Y and X is lower bounded, then Y is lower bounded and $\inf X = \inf Y$.

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630 Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. The functor $\sup s_1$ yields an element of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ and is defined by:

(Def. 1) $\sup s_1 = \sup \operatorname{rng} s_1$.

The functor $\inf s_1$ yields an element of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ and is defined as follows:

(Def. 2) $\inf s_1 = \inf \operatorname{rng} s_1$.

Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. We say that s_1 is lower bounded if and only if:

(Def. 3) $\operatorname{rng} s_1$ is lower bounded.

We say that s_1 is upper bounded if and only if:

(Def. 4) $\operatorname{rng} s_1$ is upper bounded.

Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. We say that s_1 is bounded if and only if:

(Def. 5) s_1 is upper bounded and lower bounded.

In the sequel s_1 is a sequence of extended reals.

One can prove the following proposition

(5) For all s_1 , n holds $\{s_1(k); k \text{ ranges over elements of } \mathbb{N}: n \leq k\}$ is a non empty subset of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$.

Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. The inferior realsequence s_1 yields a sequence of extended reals and is defined by the condition (Def. 6).

(Def. 6) Let n be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then there exists a non empty subset Y of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ such that $Y = \{s_1(k); k \text{ ranges over elements of } \mathbb{N}: n \leq k\}$ and (the inferior realsequence $s_1(n) = \inf Y$.

Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. The superior realsequence s_1 yields a sequence of extended reals and is defined by the condition (Def. 7).

(Def. 7) Let *n* be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then there exists a non empty subset *Y* of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ such that $Y = \{s_1(k); k \text{ ranges over elements of } \mathbb{N}: n \leq k\}$ and (the superior realsequence $s_1(n) = \sup Y$.

We now state the proposition

(6) If s_1 is finite, then s_1 is a sequence of real numbers.

Let f be a partial function from \mathbb{N} to $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$. We say that f is increasing if and only if:

(Def. 8) For all m, n such that $m \in \text{dom } f$ and $n \in \text{dom } f$ and m < n holds f(m) < f(n).

We say that f is decreasing if and only if:

(Def. 9) For all m, n such that $m \in \text{dom } f$ and $n \in \text{dom } f$ and m < n holds f(m) > f(n).

We say that f is non-decreasing if and only if:

(Def. 10) For all m, n such that $m \in \text{dom } f$ and $n \in \text{dom } f$ and $m \leq n$ holds $f(m) \leq f(n)$.

We say that f is non-increasing if and only if:

(Def. 11) For all m, n such that $m \in \text{dom } f$ and $n \in \text{dom } f$ and $m \leq n$ holds $f(m) \geq f(n)$.

One can prove the following two propositions:

- (7)(i) s_1 is increasing iff for all elements n, m of \mathbb{N} such that m < n holds $s_1(m) < s_1(n)$,
- (ii) s_1 is decreasing iff for all elements n, m of \mathbb{N} such that m < n holds $s_1(n) < s_1(m)$,
- (iii) s_1 is non-decreasing iff for all elements n, m of \mathbb{N} such that $m \leq n$ holds $s_1(m) \leq s_1(n)$, and
- (iv) s_1 is non-increasing iff for all elements n, m of \mathbb{N} such that $m \leq n$ holds $s_1(n) \leq s_1(m)$.
- (8) (The inferior realsequence s_1) $(n) \leq s_1(n)$ and $s_1(n) \leq$ (the superior realsequence s_1)(n).

Let us consider s_1 . Observe that the superior real sequence s_1 is non-increasing and the inferior real sequence s_1 is non-decreasing.

Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. The functor $\limsup s_1$ yields an element of $\overline{\mathbb{R}}$ and is defined by:

(Def. 12) $\limsup s_1 = \inf$ (the superior real sequence s_1).

The functor $\liminf s_1$ yields an element of \mathbb{R} and is defined by:

(Def. 13) $\liminf s_1 = \sup (\text{the inferior real sequence } s_1).$

In the sequel r_1 is a sequence of real numbers.

The following propositions are true:

- (9) If $s_1 = r_1$ and r_1 is bounded, then the superior realsequence $s_1 =$ the superior realsequence r_1 and $\limsup s_1 = \limsup r_1$.
- (10) If $s_1 = r_1$ and r_1 is bounded, then the inferior realsequence $s_1 =$ the inferior realsequence r_1 and $\liminf s_1 = \liminf r_1$.
- (11) If s_1 is bounded, then s_1 is a sequence of real numbers.
- (12) If $s_1 = r_1$, then s_1 is upper bounded iff r_1 is upper bounded.
- (13) If $s_1 = r_1$, then s_1 is lower bounded iff r_1 is lower bounded.
- (14) If $s_1 = r_1$ and r_1 is convergent, then s_1 is convergent to finite number and convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim r_1$.
- (15) If $s_1 = r_1$ and s_1 is convergent to finite number, then r_1 is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim r_1$.
- (16) If $s_1 \uparrow k$ is convergent to finite number, then s_1 is convergent to finite number and convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim(s_1 \uparrow k)$.
- (17) If $s_1 \uparrow k$ is convergent, then s_1 is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim(s_1 \uparrow k)$.

HIROSHI YAMAZAKI et al.

- (18) If $\limsup s_1 = \liminf s_1$ and $\liminf s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$, then there exists k such that $s_1 \uparrow k$ is bounded.
- (19) If s_1 is convergent to finite number, then there exists k such that $s_1 \uparrow k$ is bounded.
- (20) Suppose s_1 is convergent to finite number. Then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is convergent to finite number and $s_1 \uparrow k$ is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim (s_1 \uparrow k)$.
- (21) If s_1 is convergent, then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \lim(s_1 \uparrow k)$.
- (22) If s_1 is upper bounded, then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is upper bounded and if s_1 is lower bounded, then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is lower bounded.
- (23) inf $s_1 \le s_1(n)$ and $s_1(n) \le \sup s_1$.
- (24) $\inf s_1 \leq \sup s_1$.
- (25) If s_1 is non-increasing, then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is non-increasing and $\inf s_1 = \inf(s_1 \uparrow k)$.
- (26) If s_1 is non-decreasing, then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is non-decreasing and $\sup s_1 = \sup(s_1 \uparrow k)$.
- (27) (The superior realsequence s_1) $(n) = \sup(s_1 \uparrow n)$ and (the inferior realsequence s_1) $(n) = \inf(s_1 \uparrow n)$.
- (28) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals and j be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then the superior realsequence $s_1 \uparrow j = (\text{the superior realsequence } s_1) \uparrow j$ and $\limsup(s_1 \uparrow j) = \limsup s_1.$
- (29) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals and j be an element of \mathbb{N} . Then the inferior realsequence $s_1 \uparrow j =$ (the inferior realsequence $s_1) \uparrow j$ and $\liminf(s_1 \uparrow j) = \liminf s_1$.
- (30) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals and k be an element of \mathbb{N} . Suppose s_1 is non-increasing and $-\infty < s_1(k)$ and $s_1(k) < +\infty$. Then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is upper bounded and $\sup(s_1 \uparrow k) = s_1(k)$.
- (31) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals and k be an element of \mathbb{N} . Suppose s_1 is non-decreasing and $-\infty < s_1(k)$ and $s_1(k) < +\infty$. Then $s_1 \uparrow k$ is lower bounded and $\inf(s_1 \uparrow k) = s_1(k)$.
- (32) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. Suppose that for every element n of \mathbb{N} holds $+\infty \leq s_1(n)$. Then s_1 is convergent to $+\infty$.
- (33) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. Suppose that for every element n of \mathbb{N} holds $s_1(n) \leq -\infty$. Then s_1 is convergent to $-\infty$.
- (34) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. Suppose s_1 is non-increasing and $-\infty = \inf s_1$. Then s_1 is convergent to $-\infty$ and $\lim s_1 = -\infty$.
- (35) Let s_1 be a sequence of extended reals. Suppose s_1 is non-decreasing and $+\infty = \sup s_1$. Then s_1 is convergent to $+\infty$ and $\lim s_1 = +\infty$.
- (36) For every sequence s_1 of extended reals such that s_1 is non-increasing holds s_1 is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \inf s_1$.

234

- (37) For every sequence s_1 of extended reals such that s_1 is non-decreasing holds s_1 is convergent and $\lim s_1 = \sup s_1$.
- (38) Let s_2 , s_3 be sequences of extended reals. Suppose s_2 is convergent and s_3 is convergent and for every element n of N holds $s_2(n) \leq s_3(n)$. Then $\lim s_2 \leq \lim s_3$.
- (39) For every sequence s_1 of extended reals holds $\liminf s_1 \leq \limsup s_1$.
- (40) For every sequence s_1 of extended reals holds s_1 is convergent iff $\liminf s_1 = \limsup s_1.$
- (41) For every sequence s_1 of extended reals such that s_1 is convergent holds $\lim s_1 = \lim \inf s_1$ and $\lim s_1 = \limsup s_1$.

References

- Grzegorz Bancerek. The ordinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):91–96, 1990.
- [2] Józef Białas. Infimum and supremum of the set of real numbers. Measure theory. Formalized Mathematics, 2(1):163–171, 1991.
- [3] Józef Białas. Series of positive real numbers. Measure theory. Formalized Mathematics, 2(1):173–183, 1991.
- [4] Józef Białas. The σ -additive measure theory. Formalized Mathematics, 2(2):263–270, 1991.
- [5] Czesław Byliński. Functions and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):55-65, 1990.
- [6] Czesław Byliński. Functions from a set to a set. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):153-164, 1990.[7] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- Czesław Byliński and Piotr Rudnicki. Bounding boxes for compact sets in \mathcal{E}^2 . Formalized [8] Mathematics, 6(3):427-440, 1997.
- Noboru Endou and Yasunari Shidama. Integral of measurable function. Formalized Math*ematics*, 14(**2**):53–70, 2006.
- [10] Noboru Endou, Katsumi Wasaki, and Yasunari Shidama. Definitions and basic properties of measurable functions. Formalized Mathematics, 9(3):495–500, 2001.
- [11] Adam Grabowski. On the Kuratowski limit operators. Formalized Mathematics, 11(4):399-409, 2003.
- [12] Jarosław Kotowicz. Convergent real sequences. Upper and lower bound of sets of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):477-481, 1990.
- [13] Jarosław Kotowicz. Convergent sequences and the limit of sequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):273–275, 1990.
- [14] Jarosław Kotowicz. Monotone real sequences. Subsequences. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):471-475, 1990.
- [15] Jarosław Kotowicz. Real sequences and basic operations on them. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):269-272, 1990.
- [16] Andrzej Nędzusiak. σ -fields and probability. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):401–407, 1990.
- [17] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
- [18] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11, 1990.[19] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [20] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations and their basic properties. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):73-83, 1990.
- [21] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):181–186, 1990
- [22] Bo Zhang, Hiroshi Yamazaki, and Yatsuka Nakamura. Inferior limit and superior limit of sequences of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 13(3):375-381, 2005.

Received August 28, 2007
Several Classes of BCK-algebras and their Properties

Tao Sun Qingdao University of Science and Technology China Dahai Hu Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Xiquan Liang Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Summary. In this article the general theory of Commutative BCK-algebras and BCI-algebras and several classes of BCK-algebras are given according to [2].

MML identifier: BCIALG_3, version: 7.8.05 4.89.993

The articles [3] and [1] provide the notation and terminology for this paper.

1. The Basics of General Theory of Commutative BCK-algebras

Let I_1 be a non empty BCI structure with 0. We say that I_1 is commutative if and only if:

(Def. 1) For all elements x, y of I_1 holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus x)$.

Let us observe that BCI-EXAMPLE is commutative.

Let us note that there exists a BCK-algebra which is commutative.

In the sequel X denotes a BCK-algebra and I_1 denotes a non empty subset of X.

We now state a number of propositions:

(1) X is a commutative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) \le y \setminus (y \setminus x)$.

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

- (2) For every BCK-algebra X and for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) \le y$ and $x \setminus (x \setminus y) \le x$.
- (3) X is a commutative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y = x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)).$
- (4) X is a commutative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus (x \setminus (x \setminus y))).$
- (5) X is a commutative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X such that $x \leq y$ holds $x = y \setminus (y \setminus x)$.
- (6) Let X be a non empty BCI structure with 0. Then X is a commutative BCK-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X holds $x \setminus (0_X \setminus y) = x$ and $(x \setminus z) \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus x)$.
- (7) If X is a commutative BCK-algebra, then for all elements x, y of X such that $x \setminus y = x$ holds $y \setminus x = y$.
- (8) If X is a commutative BCK-algebra, then for all elements x, y, a of X such that $y \le a$ holds $a \setminus x \setminus (a \setminus y) = y \setminus x$.
- (9) If X is a commutative BCK-algebra, then for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y = x$ iff $y \setminus (y \setminus x) = 0_X$.
- (10) If X is a commutative BCK-algebra, then for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)) = x \setminus y$ and $x \setminus y \setminus (x \setminus y \setminus x) = x \setminus y$.
- (11) Suppose X is a commutative BCK-algebra. Let x, y, a be elements of X. If $x \le a$, then $(a \setminus y) \setminus (a \setminus y \setminus (a \setminus x)) = a \setminus y \setminus (x \setminus y)$.

Let X be a BCI-algebra and let a be an element of X. We say that a is greatest if and only if:

(Def. 2) For every element x of X holds $x \setminus a = 0_X$.

We say that a is positive if and only if:

(Def. 3) $0_X \setminus a = 0_X$.

2. The Basics of General Theory of Commutative BCI-Algebras

Let I_1 be a BCI-algebra. We say that I_1 is BCI-commutative if and only if: (Def. 4) For all elements x, y of I_1 such that $x \setminus y = 0_{(I_1)}$ holds $x = y \setminus (y \setminus x)$.

We say that I_1 is BCI-weakly-commutative if and only if:

(Def. 5) For all elements x, y of I_1 holds $(x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (0_{(I_1)} \setminus (x \setminus y)) = y \setminus (y \setminus x)$. One can check that BCI-EXAMPLE is BCI-commutative and BCI-weakly-

commutative.

Let us note that there exists a BCI-algebra which is BCI-commutative and BCI-weakly-commutative.

The following propositions are true:

- (12) For every BCI-algebra X such that there exists an element of X which is greatest holds X is a BCK-algebra.
- (13) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Suppose X is p-semisimple. Then X is BCIcommutative and BCI-weakly-commutative.
- (14) Every commutative BCK-algebra is a BCI-commutative BCI-algebra and a BCI-weakly-commutative BCI-algebra.
- (15) If X is a BCI-weakly-commutative BCI-algebra, then X is BCIcommutative.
- (16) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Then X is BCI-commutative if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus (x \setminus y))$.
- (17) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Then X is BCI-commutative if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $(x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)) = 0_X \setminus (x \setminus y)$.
- (18) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Then X is BCI-commutative if and only if for every element a of AtomSet X and for all elements x, y of BranchV a holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus x)$.
- (19) Let X be a non empty BCI structure with 0. Then X is a BCIcommutative BCI-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X holds $x \setminus y \setminus (x \setminus z) \setminus (z \setminus y) = 0_X$ and $x \setminus 0_X = x$ and $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus (x \setminus x))$.
- (20) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Then X is BCI-commutative if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X such that $x \leq z$ and $z \setminus y \leq z \setminus x$ holds $x \leq y$.
- (21) Let X be a BCI-algebra. Then X is BCI-commutative if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X such that $x \leq y$ and $x \leq z$ holds $x \leq y \setminus (y \setminus z)$.

3. Bounded BCK-Algebras

Let I_1 be a BCK-algebra. We say that I_1 is bounded if and only if:

(Def. 6) There exists an element of I_1 which is greatest.

Let us note that BCI-EXAMPLE is bounded.

One can verify that there exists a BCK-algebra which is bounded and commutative.

Let I_1 be a bounded BCK-algebra. We say that I_1 is involutory if and only if:

(Def. 7) For every element a of I_1 such that a is greatest and for every element x of I_1 holds $a \setminus (a \setminus x) = x$.

Next we state three propositions:

(22) Let X be a bounded BCK-algebra. Then X is involutory if and only if for every element a of X such that a is greatest and for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y = a \setminus y \setminus (a \setminus x)$.

- (23) Let X be a bounded BCK-algebra. Then X is involutory if and only if for every element a of X such that a is greatest and for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (a \setminus y) = y \setminus (a \setminus x)$.
- (24) Let X be a bounded BCK-algebra. Then X is involutory if and only if for every element a of X such that a is greatest and for all elements x, yof X such that $x \leq a \setminus y$ holds $y \leq a \setminus x$.

Let I_1 be a BCK-algebra and let a be an element of I_1 . We say that a is Iseki if and only if:

(Def. 8) For every element x of I_1 holds $x \setminus a = 0_{(I_1)}$ and $a \setminus x = a$.

Let I_1 be a BCK-algebra. We say that I_1 is Iseki-extension if and only if:

(Def. 9) There exists an element of I_1 which is Iseki.

Let us observe that BCI-EXAMPLE is Iseki-extension.

Let X be a BCK-algebra. A non empty subset of X is said to be a commutative-ideal of X if:

(Def. 10) $0_X \in \text{it and for all elements } x, y, z \text{ of } X \text{ such that } x \setminus y \setminus z \in \text{it and} z \in \text{it holds } x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)) \in \text{it.}$

The following three propositions are true:

- (25) If I_1 is a commutative-ideal of X, then for all elements x, y of X such that $x \setminus y \in I_1$ holds $x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)) \in I_1$.
- (26) For every BCK-algebra X such that I_1 is a commutative-ideal of X holds I_1 is an ideal of X.
- (27) If I_1 is a commutative-ideal of X, then for all elements x, y of X such that $x \setminus (x \setminus y) \in I_1$ holds $y \setminus (y \setminus x) \setminus (x \setminus y) \in I_1$.

4. Implicative and Positive-Implicative BCK-algebras

Let I_1 be a BCK-algebra. We say that I_1 is BCK-positive-implicative if and only if:

(Def. 11) For all elements x, y, z of I_1 holds $(x \setminus y) \setminus z = x \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus z)$.

We say that I_1 is BCK-implicative if and only if:

(Def. 12) For all elements x, y of I_1 holds $x \setminus (y \setminus x) = x$.

Let us observe that BCI-EXAMPLE is BCK-positive-implicative and BCK-implicative.

Let us mention that there exists a BCK-algebra which is Iseki-extension, BCK-positive-implicative, BCK-implicative, bounded, and commutative.

The following propositions are true:

(28) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y = x \setminus y \setminus y$.

- (29) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $(x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (y \setminus x) = x \setminus (x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x)))$.
- (30) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y = x \setminus y \setminus (x \setminus (x \setminus y))$.
- (31) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X holds $x \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus z) \leq (x \setminus y) \setminus z$.
- (32) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus y \le x \setminus y \setminus y$.
- (33) X is a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus (y \setminus (y \setminus x))) \le (x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (y \setminus x)$.
- (34) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra if and only if X is a commutative BCK-algebra and a BCK-positive-implicative BCK-algebra.
- (35) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $(x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus x).$
- (36) Let X be a non empty BCI structure with 0. Then X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X holds $x \setminus (0_X \setminus y) = x$ and $(x \setminus z) \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus x) \setminus (x \setminus y)$.
- (37) Let X be a bounded BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if X is involutory and BCK-positive-implicative.
- (38) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus (y \setminus x)) = 0_X$.
- (39) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $(x \setminus (x \setminus y)) \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus (y \setminus (x \setminus (x \setminus y))).$
- (40) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y, z of X holds $(x \setminus z) \setminus (x \setminus y) = y \setminus z \setminus (y \setminus x \setminus z)$.
- (41) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y, z of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus (y \setminus z)) = (y \setminus z) \setminus (y \setminus z \setminus (x \setminus z)).$
- (42) X is a BCK-implicative BCK-algebra iff for all elements x, y of X holds $x \setminus (x \setminus y) = (y \setminus (y \setminus x)) \setminus (x \setminus y).$
- (43) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for every element x of X holds $a \setminus x \setminus (a \setminus x \setminus x) = 0_X$.
- (44) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for every element x of X holds $x \setminus (a \setminus x) = x$.
- (45) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for every element x of X holds $a \setminus x \setminus x = a \setminus x$.

TAO SUN AND DAHAI HU AND XIQUAN LIANG

- (46) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $a \setminus y \setminus (a \setminus y \setminus x) = x \setminus y$.
- (47) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for all elements x, y of X holds $y \setminus (y \setminus x) = x \setminus (a \setminus y)$.
- (48) Let X be a bounded commutative BCK-algebra and a be an element of X. Suppose a is greatest. Then X is BCK-implicative if and only if for all elements x, y, z of X holds $(x \setminus (y \setminus z)) \setminus (x \setminus y) \le x \setminus (a \setminus z)$.

References

- [1] Yuzhong Ding. Several classes of BCI-algebras and their properties. *Formalized Mathematics*, 15(1):1–9, 2007.
- [2] Jie Meng and YoungLin Liu. An Introduction to BCI-algebras. Shaanxi Scientific and Technological Press, 2001.
- [3] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.

Received September 19, 2007

Several Differentiation Formulas of Special Functions. Part VI

Bo Li Qingdao University of Science and Technology China Pan Wang Qingdao University of Science and Technology China

Summary. In this article, we prove a series of differentiation identities [3] involving the secant and cosecant functions and specific combinations of special functions including trigonometric, exponential and logarithmic functions.

MML identifier: FDIFF_10, version: 7.8.05 4.89.993

The papers [11], [13], [1], [15], [2], [8], [9], [16], [5], [12], [10], [4], [6], [7], and [14] provide the notation and terminology for this paper.

In this paper x denotes a real number and Z denotes an open subset of \mathbb{R} . One can prove the following propositions:

- (1) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function tan}) \cdot (\text{the function cot}))$. Then
- (i) (the function \tan) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function tan) (the function \cot))'_{|Z}(x) = $\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)((\text{the function } \cot)(x))^2} \cdot -\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (2) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function tan}) \cdot (\text{the function tan}))$. Then
- (i) (the function tan) \cdot (the function tan) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \tan) ·(the function \tan)) $_{\uparrow Z}(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)((\text{the function } \tan)(x))^2} \cdot \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$.
- (3) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cot}) \cdot (\text{the function cot}))$. Then
- (i) (the function \cot) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cot) \cdot (the function \cot)) $'_{\uparrow Z}(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)((\text{the function } \cot)(x))^2} \cdot \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (4) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cot}) \cdot (\text{the function tan}))$. Then
- (i) (the function \cot) (the function \tan) is differentiable on Z, and

C 2007 University of Białystok ISSN 1426-2630

BO LI AND PAN WANG

- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cot) (the function $\tan))'_{|Z}(x) = \left(-\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)((\text{the function } \tan)(x))^2}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}.$
- (5) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function } \tan) (\text{the function } \cot))$. Then
- (i) (the function \tan)-(the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \tan)-(the function \cot))'_{|Z}(x) = $\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (6) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function } \tan)+(\text{the function } \cot))$. Then
- (i) (the function \tan)+(the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot))'_{|Z}(x) = $\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (7)(i) (The function \sin) \cdot (the function \sin) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot (the function $\sin)$)'_{|Z}(x) = (the function \cos)((the function \sin)(x)) \cdot (the function \cos)(x).
- (8)(i) (The function sin) \cdot (the function cos) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot (the function \cos))'_{|Z}(x) = -(the function \cos)((the function \cos)(x)) \cdot (the function sin) (x).
- (9)(i) (The function \cos) (the function \sin) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) (the function \sin))'_{|Z}(x) = -(the function \sin)((the function \sin)(x)) (the function \cos)(x).
- (10)(i) (The function \cos) (the function \cos) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) ·(the function \cos))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function \sin)((the function \cos)(x)) · (the function \sin)(x).
- (11) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \ (\text{the function cot}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) (the function \cot)) $_{\uparrow Z}(x) = -(\text{the function } \cos)(x) \frac{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (12) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \text{ (the function tan}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) (the function \tan) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) (the function $\tan)$)' $_{\uparrow Z}(x) = (\text{the function } \sin)(x) + \frac{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}.$
- (13) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \text{ (the function cot}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function sin) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) (the function \cot))'_{$\uparrow Z$}(x) = (the function \cos) $(x) \cdot$ (the function \cot) $(x) \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)}$.

- (14) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \ (\text{the function tan}))$. Then
- (i) (the function \cos) (the function \tan) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) (the function $\tan))'_{\uparrow Z}(x) = -\frac{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)}.$
- (15) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \text{ (the function cos}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) (the function \cos) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) (the function \cos))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function \cos)(x)² (the function \sin)(x)².
- (16) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function ln}) \text{ (the function sin)}).$ Then
 - (i) (the function \ln) (the function \sin) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function ln) (the function $\sin)'_{|Z}(x) = \frac{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)}{x} + (\text{the function } \ln)(x) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x).$
- (17) Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}((\text{the function ln}) \text{ (the function cos)})$. Then
- (i) (the function ln) (the function \cos) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function ln) (the function \cos))'_{|Z}(x) = $\frac{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)}{x} (\text{the function } \ln)(x) \cdot (\text{the function } \sin)(x).$
- (18) Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}((\text{the function ln}) \text{ (the function exp}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \ln) (the function exp) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function ln) (the function exp))'_{|Z}(x) = $\frac{(\text{the function exp})(x)}{x}$ + (the function ln)(x) · (the function exp)(x).
- (19) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function ln}) \cdot (\text{the function ln}))$ and for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds x > 0. Then
 - (i) (the function \ln) (the function \ln) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function ln) ·(the function ln))'_{$|Z|}(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function ln})(x) \cdot x}$.</sub>
- (20) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function exp}) \cdot (\text{the function exp}))$. Then
- (i) (the function exp) \cdot (the function exp) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function exp)) \cdot (the function exp)) $'_{\uparrow Z}(x) =$ (the function exp)((the function exp)(x)) \cdot (the function exp)(x).
- (21) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \cdot (\text{the function tan}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) (the function \tan) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot (the function \tan))'_{|Z} $(x) = \frac{\cos (\text{the function } \tan)(x)}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$.
- (22) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \cdot (\text{the function cot}))$. Then
- (i) (the function \sin) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot (the function \cot)) $_{\upharpoonright Z}(x) = -\frac{\cos(\text{the function } \cot)(x)}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.

- (23) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \cdot (\text{the function tan}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) (the function \tan) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) (the function \tan))' $_{\uparrow Z}(x) = -\frac{\sin(\text{the function } \tan)(x)}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$.
- (24) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \cdot (\text{the function cot}))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) (the function \cot) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) (the function \cot)) $_{\uparrow Z}(x) = \frac{\sin(\text{the function } \cot)(x)}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.
- (25) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) ((\text{the function tan})+(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function sin) ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) ((the function tan)+(the function cot)))'_{$|Z|}(x) = (the function cos)(x) \cdot ((the$ $function tan)(x) + (the function cot)(x)) + (the function sin)(x) \cdot (\frac{1}{(the function cos)(x)^2} - \frac{1}{(the function sin)(x)^2}).$ </sub>
- (26) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) ((\text{the function tan})+(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) ((the function $\tan)+(\text{the function cot})))'_{\uparrow Z}(x) = -(\text{the function } \sin)(x) \cdot ((\text{the function } \tan)(x) + (\text{the function cot})(x)) + (\text{the function } \cos)(x) \cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}).$
- (27) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \ ((\text{the function tan})-(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function sin) ((the function \tan)-(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) ((the function $\tan)$ -(the function \cot)))' $_{\uparrow Z}(x) =$ (the function $\cos)(x) \cdot$ ((the function $\tan)(x)$ (the function $\cot)(x)$) + (the function $\sin)(x) \cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}).$
- (28) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \ ((\text{the function tan})-(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) ((the function \tan)-(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) ((the function $\tan)-(\text{the function cot})))'_{\uparrow Z}(x) = -(\text{the function } \sin)(x) \cdot ((\text{the function } \tan)(x) (\text{the function cot})(x)) + (\text{the function } \cos)(x) \cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}).$

- (29) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function exp}) \ ((\text{the function tan})+(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function exp) ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function exp) ((the function tan)+(the function cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function exp)(x) · ((the function tan)(x) + (the function cot)(x)) + (the function exp)(x) · $(\frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2} - \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}).$
- (30) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function exp}) \ ((\text{the function tan})-(\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function exp) ((the function \tan)-(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function exp) ((the function tan)-(the function cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function exp)(x) · ((the function tan)(x) - (the function cot)(x)) + (the function exp)(x) · $(\frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}).$
- (31) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}(\text{(the function sin)} + (\text{the function sin}) + (\text{the function cos})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) ((the function \sin)+(the function \cos)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) ((the function $\sin)$ +(the function \cos)))'_{|Z}(x) = ((the function $\cos)(x)^2 + 2 \cdot (\text{the function } \sin)(x) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x)) (\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2$.
- (32) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \ ((\text{the function sin})-(\text{the function cos})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) ((the function \sin)-(the function \cos)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) ((the function $\sin)$)-(the function \cos)))'_{|Z}(x) = ((the function $\sin)(x)^2 + 2 \cdot (\text{the function } \sin)(x) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x)) (\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2$.
- (33) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}(\text{(the function cos)} ((\text{the function sin})-(\text{the function cos})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) ((the function \sin)-(the function \cos)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) ((the function $\sin)$ -(the function \cos)))'_{|Z}(x) = ((the function $\cos)(x)^2 + 2 \cdot (\text{the function } \sin)(x) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x)) (\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2$.
- (34) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}(\text{(the function cos)} ((\text{the function sin})+(\text{the function cos})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) ((the function \sin)+(the function \cos)) is differentiable on Z, and

BO LI AND PAN WANG

- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) ((the function $\sin)$ +(the function \cos)))'_{[Z}(x) = (the function \cos)(x)² 2 · (the function \sin)(x) · (the function \cos)(x) (the function \sin)(x)².
- (35) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) + (\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) \cdot ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot ((the function tan)+(the function cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function cos)((the function tan)(x) + (the function cot)(x)) $\cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2} \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}).$
- (36) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) (\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \sin) \cdot ((the function \tan)-(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) \cdot ((the function tan)-(the function \cot)))'_Z(x) = (the function \cos)((the function $\tan)(x) (\text{the function } \cot)(x)) \cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}).$
- (37) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) (\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) ·((the function \tan)-(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) ·((the function $\tan)$ -(the function \cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = -(the function \sin)((the function $\tan)(x)$ (the function $\cot)(x)$) · $(\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2})$.
- (38) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function cos}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) + (\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) \cdot ((the function \tan)+(the function \cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function cos) \cdot ((the function tan)+(the function cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = -(the function sin)((the function tan) (x) + (the function cot)(x)) $\cdot \left(\frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2} - \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}\right)$.
- (39) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function exp}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) + (\text{the function cot})))$. Then
 - (i) (the function exp) \cdot ((the function tan)+(the function cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function exp) \cdot ((the function tan)+(the function cot)))'_{|Z}(x) = (the function exp)((the function tan)(x) + (the function cot)(x)) $\cdot (\frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2} \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2}).$
- (40) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function exp}) \cdot ((\text{the function tan}) (\text{the function cot})))$. Then

- (i) (the function exp) \cdot ((the function tan)-(the function cot)) is differentiable on Z, and
- for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function exp) \cdot ((the func-(ii) tion tan)-(the function cot)))'_Z(x) = (the function exp)((the function $\tan(x) - (\text{the function } \cot(x)) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos(x)^2)} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin(x)^2)}\right).$ (41) Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}(\frac{(\text{the function } \tan) - (\text{the function } \cot)}{\text{the function } \exp})$. Then (the function tan)-(the function cot)) is differentiable on Z, and (i) the function exp for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $\left(\frac{\text{(the function tan)} - (\text{the function cot)}}{\text{the function exp}}\right)'_{\uparrow Z}(x) =$ (ii) $\frac{\left(\left(\frac{1}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2} + \frac{1}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}\right) - (\text{the function } \tan)(x)) + (\text{the function } \cot)(x)}{(\text{the function } \exp)(x)}$ Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}(\frac{(\operatorname{the function } \operatorname{tan}) + (\operatorname{the function } \operatorname{cot})}{\operatorname{the function } \exp})$. Then $\frac{(\operatorname{the function } \operatorname{tan}) + (\operatorname{the function } \operatorname{cot})}{\operatorname{the function } \exp} \text{ is differentiable on } Z, \text{ and}$ (42)(i) the function exp for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds $\left(\frac{\text{(the function tan)} + (\text{the function cot)}}{\text{the function exp}}\right)'_{\upharpoonright Z}(x) = \frac{1}{(\text{the function cos})(x)^2 - \frac{1}{(\text{the function sin})(x)^2} - (\text{the function tan})(x) - (\text{the function cot})(x)}$ (ii) (the function $\exp(x)$ Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}(\text{(the function sin)} \cdot \text{sec})$. Then (43)(the function \sin) \cdot sec is differentiable on Z, and (i) (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) $\cdot \sec)'_{\uparrow Z}(x) =$ $\frac{(\text{the function } \cos)((\sec)(x))\cdot(\text{the function } \sin)(x)}{(\text{the function } \cos)(x)^2}$ (44) Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}((\text{the function } \cos) \cdot \sec)$. Then (the function \cos) \cdot sec is differentiable on Z, and (i) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function $\cos) \cdot \sec)'_{\perp Z}(x) =$ (ii) (the function $\sin((\sec)(x))$) (the function $\sin(x)$) (the function $\cos(x)^2$ (45)Suppose $Z \subseteq \operatorname{dom}((\text{the function sin}) \cdot \operatorname{cosec})$. Then
- (i) (the function \sin) \cdot cosec is differentiable on Z, and
- (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function sin) $\cdot \operatorname{cosec})'_{\upharpoonright Z}(x) = -\frac{(\text{the function } \cos)((\operatorname{cosec})(x)) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x)}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}.$
- (46) Suppose $Z \subseteq \text{dom}((\text{the function } \cos) \cdot \csc)$. Then
 - (i) (the function \cos) \cdot cosec is differentiable on Z, and
 - (ii) for every x such that $x \in Z$ holds ((the function \cos) $\cdot \operatorname{cosec})'_{\upharpoonright Z}(x) = \frac{(\text{the function } \sin)((\operatorname{cosec})(x)) \cdot (\text{the function } \cos)(x)}{(\text{the function } \sin)(x)^2}$.

References

- [1] Grzegorz Bancerek. The ordinal numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):91–96, 1990.
- [2] Czesław Byliński. Partial functions. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):357–367, 1990.
- [3] Fritz Chemnitius. Differentiation und Integration ausgewählter Beispiele. VEB Verlag Technik, Berlin, 1956.
- [4] Krzysztof Hryniewiecki. Basic properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):35–40, 1990.

BO LI AND PAN WANG

- [5] Jarosław Kotowicz. Partial functions from a domain to the set of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):703-709, 1990.
- [6] Jarosław Kotowicz. Real sequences and basic operations on them. Formalized Mathematics, 1(2):269-272, 1990.
- [7] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Real function differentiability. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):797–801, 1990.
- [8] Konrad Raczkowski and Paweł Sadowski. Topological properties of subsets in real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(4):777–780, 1990.
- [9] Yasunari Shidama. The Taylor expansions. Formalized Mathematics, 12(2):195–200, 2004.
- [10] Andrzej Trybulec. Subsets of complex numbers. To appear in Formalized Mathematics.
 [11] Andrzej Trybulec. Tarski Grothendieck set theory. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):9–11,
- 1990
- [12] Andrzej Trybulec and Czesław Byliński. Some properties of real numbers. Formalized Mathematics, 1(3):445–449, 1990.
- [13] Zinaida Trybulec. Properties of subsets. Formalized Mathematics, 1(1):67–71, 1990.
- [14] Peng Wang and Bo Li. Several differentiation formulas of special functions. Part V. Formalized Mathematics, 15(3):73–79, 2007.
- [15] Edmund Woronowicz. Relations defined on sets. *Formalized Mathematics*, 1(1):181–186, 1990.
- [16] Yuguang Yang and Yasunari Shidama. Trigonometric functions and existence of circle ratio. Formalized Mathematics, 7(2):255–263, 1998.

Received September 19, 2007

Index of MML Identifiers

AOFA_000
ARROW
BCIALG_11
BCIALG_2
BCIALG_3
COMBGRAS
COMPACT1
ENTROPY1
FDIFF_10
FDIFF_9
FLANG_1 11
FLANG_2
GROUP_10159
GROUP_9
INT_4
INTEGRA7
INTEGRA8
LAPLACE
MATRIX11
MATRIX12
MATRIX13
MATRIXR2
PCS_0
PDIFF_1
PRVECT_2
RANKNULL
REWRITE2 121
RINFSUP2